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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

• Net sales down 0.3% year on year, to ¥395.5 billion

• Operating income down 15.1% year on year, to ¥58.3 billion

• Net income down 47.4% year on year, to ¥21.8 billion

•  Recognized loss accompanying restructuring of the Consumer Business

Fiscal 2012 Business Results Analysis

Statement of Operations Analysis

Net Sales

Net sales for fi scal 2012, ended March 31, 2012, edged down 0.3%, or 
¥1.2 billion, year on year, to ¥395.5 billion. For net sales by business 
segment, the Company recorded year-on-year increases of 0.1%, or 
¥0.1 billion, in the Pachislot and Pachinko Machine Business segment 
and 5.7%, or ¥2.6 billion, in the Amusement Machine Sales Business 
segment as well as year-on-year decreases of 2.4%, or ¥1.0 billion, 
in the Amusement Center Operations segment and 3.6%, or ¥3.2 
billion, in the Consumer Business segment. Overseas sales were 
down 9.7%, or ¥4.2 billion, year on year, to ¥40.0 billion, due to 
a decrease in sales of packaged game software overseas and the 
sale of seven amusement centers in North America. Overseas sales 
accounted for 10.1% of net sales.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales rose 1.4%, or ¥3.1 billion, year on year, to ¥233.8 billion, 
because the charging to cost of valuation losses on work in process 
for certain titles in the Consumer Business segment counteracted 
a reduction of component procurement cost and cost reduction 
measures through the reuse of components in the Pachislot and 
Pachinko Machine Business segment.

 The cost of sales ratio deteriorated 1.0 percentage point year on 
year, to 59.1%. Gross profi t declined 2.6%, or ¥4.3 billion, year on 
year, to ¥161.6 billion.

SG&A Expenses

SG&A expenses were up 6.1%, or ¥5.9 billion, year on year, to ¥103.2 
billion, refl ecting higher advertising expenses in the Consumer Business 
segment accompanying the sale of mainstay titles and higher R&D 
expenses in the Pachislot and Pachinko Machine Business segment 
as a result of efforts to strengthen development capabilities. SG&A 
expenses as a percentage of net sales increased 1.6 percentage points 
year on year, to 26.1%. 

Operating Income

Operating income was down 15.1%, or ¥10.3 billion, to ¥58.3 billion, 
because favorable sales of high-margin mainstay pachislot machine 
titles in the Pachislot and Pachinko Machine Business segment 
were unable to compensate for lackluster packaged game software 
sales and valuation losses on work in process for certain titles, 
accompanying the restructuring of businesses in North America 
and Europe in the Consumer Business segment, and an increase in 
amortization of goodwill as a result of making a listed subsidiary 
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a wholly owned subsidiary. The operating margin decreased from 
the previous fi scal year’s 17.3% to 14.8%.

Non-Operating Income (Expenses), Ordinary Income

Non-operating income rose 13.6%, or ¥0.2 billion, year on year, to ¥2.0 
billion, due to an increase in dividends income. Non-operating ex-
penses were down 6.6%, or ¥0.1 billion, year on year, to ¥2.2 billion, 
because the absence of the previous fi scal year’s loss on valuation 
of derivatives more than offset higher commission fees.
 As a result, ordinary income decreased 14.6%, or ¥9.9 billion, 
year on year, to ¥58.1 billion.

Extraordinary Gain and Extraordinary Loss

Extraordinary gain was ¥2.1 billion, refl ecting gain on negative goodwill 
accompanying the inclusion of Phoenix Resort Co., Ltd. and TAIYO 
ELEC Co., Ltd., as subsidiaries. Meanwhile, extraordinary loss was 
¥18.5 billion, which comprised restructuring loss of ¥6.3 billion, 
incurred as a result of the disposal of inventory and personnel reductions 
accompanying restructuring of the Consumer Business segment; 
settlement payment for patent licensing of ¥3.5 billion; amortization 
of goodwill of ¥3.3 billion; and impairment loss on assets for business 
use and assets for leasing of ¥3.3 billion. 

Extraordinary Loss
Major losses / expenses Millions of yen

Restructuring loss 6,308

Settlement payment for patent licensing 3,500

Amortization of goodwill 3,363

Impairment loss 3,341

Others 2,065

 Total 18,577

Income Taxes and Net Income

Income taxes rose 54.1%, or ¥7.2 billion, year on year, to ¥20.5 billion, 
refl ecting the previous fi scal year’s temporary decrease in tax expenses 
as a result of receiving approval to adopt a consolidated tax return system. 
Net income after minority interests decreased 47.4%, or ¥19.6 billion, 
year on year, to ¥21.8 billion.
 Net income per share of common stock was ¥86.73, compared with 
¥163.19 for the previous fi scal year. Full-year cash dividends per share 
were ¥40.00, unchanged from those of the previous fi scal year. The 
consolidated dividend payout ratio was 46.1%, compared with 24.5% 
for the previous fi scal year.

Capital Expenditures and Depreciation and Amortization

Capital expenditures were up 83.6%, or ¥16.4 billion, from the previous 
fi scal year’s ¥19.6 billion, to ¥36.1 billion, due to the Pachislot and 
Pachinko Machine Business segment’s commencement of con-
struction of a new plant and distribution center and the Consumer 
Business segment’s higher investment in software assets. 
 Depreciation and amortization rose 1.3%, or ¥0.2 billion, from the 
previous fi scal year’s ¥15.9 billion, to ¥16.1 billion, due to a rise in the 
depreciation of software assets in the Consumer Business segment.

R&D Expenses, Content Production Expenses

R&D expenses and content production expenses, which are included 
in SG&A expenses and cost of sales, increased 29.8%, or ¥12.2 billion, 
year on year, to ¥53.3 billion, which was primarily attributable to 
valuation losses on work in process for certein titles under develop-
ment in the Consumer Business segment. 
 R&D expenses as a percentage of net sales was 13.5%, compared 
with 10.4% for the previous fi scal year.
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Major Expenses Billions of yen

2011 2012 % Change

R&D expenses, content 
production expenses 41.1 53.3 +29.8%

Capital expenditures 19.6 36.1 +83.6%

Depreciation and amortization 15.9 16.1 +1.3%

Advertising expenses 15.1 17.2 +14.0%

(Reference) Effect of Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive Income Billions of yen

2012

Net income 21.8

Minority interests in income 0.6

Income before minority interests 22.4 A

Other comprehensive income

  Valuation difference on available-for-
sale securities

7.5

  Deferred gains or losses on hedges 0

 Revaluation reserve for land 0.1

 Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.4)

  Share of other comprehensive income 
of associates accounted for using 
equity method

0.005

 Total other comprehensive income 7.2 B

Comprehensive income 29.6
A + B Comprehensive income 
¥7.8 billion more than net income

Business Segment Analysis

Pachislot and Pachinko Machine Business

The Pachislot and Pachinko Machine Business segment posted net 
sales of ¥212.1 billion, approximately unchanged year on year.
 In the pachislot machine business, although unit sales edged down 
because it postponed the marketing of certain titles until the current 
fi scal year, sales of mainstay titles underpinned a 9.9% increase in net 
sales. Amid market sluggishness due to a shift in demand toward 
pachislot machines, the pachinko machine business saw unit sales 
decline year on year, leading to a 10.6% decrease in net sales. 
 However, operating income was up 10.5%, or ¥6.7 billion, year on 
year, to ¥71.0 billion, thanks to cost reduction measures through the 
reuse of components and favorable sales of high-margin mainstay 
pachislot machine titles. The operating margin increased from the 
previous fi scal year’s 30.3% to 33.5%.

Amusement Machine Sales Business

The Amusement Machine Sales Business segment posted year-on-
year increases of 5.7%, or ¥2.6 billion, in net sales, to ¥49.9 billion, 
and 1.3%, or ¥98 million, in operating income, to ¥7.4 billion. This was 
attributable to solid sales of mainstay titles, sales of cards and other 
consumables and favorable utilization rates of revenue-sharing titles, 
which led to steady revenues. The operating margin was 14.9%, 
compared with 15.5% for the previous fi scal year.

Amusement Center Operations

Despite a 2.4%, or ¥1.0 billion, year-on-year decrease in net sales, to 
¥44.6 billion, the Amusement Center Operations segment grew 
operating income 3.8%, or ¥13 million, year on year, to ¥0.3 billion. 
Through measures to date aimed at rightsizing the number of 
amusement centers and strengthening the operational management 
capabilities of existing amusement centers, SEGA’s existing domestic 
amusement centers achieved a 0.5% rise in net sales.

Net Sales by Segment
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Consumer Business

The Consumer Business segment recorded a decline in net sales of 
3.6%, or ¥3.2 billion, year on year, to ¥85.6 billion. Mainly due to 
lackluster packaged game software sales overseas and expenses 
accompanying restructuring, this business segment recognized an 
operating loss of ¥15.1 billion, compared with the previous fi scal 
year’s operating income of ¥1.9 billion.
 Overall, the performance of the toy business was weak, while the 
animation business generated steady license revenues mainly from 
mainstay titles.

Balance Sheet Analysis

Assets

Total assets at March 31, 2012, the fi scal year-end, stood at ¥497.4 
billion, up ¥38.8 billion from the previous fi scal year-end.
 Total current assets at fi scal year-end amounted to ¥327.6 billion, 
up ¥12.0 billion from the previous fi scal year-end. This mainly resulted 
from increases in notes and accounts receivable–trade and negotiable 
certifi cates of deposit, which counteracted a decrease in cash and 
deposits due to income taxes paid.
 Total noncurrent assets at fi scal year-end stood at ¥169.8 billion, 
up ¥26.7 billion from the previous fi scal year-end. This stemmed 
from a ¥21.0 billion rise in property, plant and equipment—which 
resulted from beginning construction of a new plant, scheduled for 
completion during the current fi scal year, and making Phoenix Resort 
Co., Ltd. a wholly owned subsidiary—and an ¥8.5 billion increase in 
investment securities, refl ecting a rise in the market value of securities. 

Liabilities

Total current liabilities at fi scal year-end stood at ¥132.3 billion, up 
¥23.3 billion from the previous fi scal year-end. This was principally 
related to higher notes and accounts payable–trade and the transfer 
of bonds payable from noncurrent liabilities to the current portion of 
bonds. A current ratio of 247.5% refl ected the Company’s continued 
high level of liquidity.
 Total noncurrent liabilities at fi scal year-end totaled ¥68.6 billion, a 
rise of ¥4.5 billion from the previous fi scal year-end.

Net Assets

Total net assets stood at ¥296.3 billion at fi scal year-end, up ¥10.9 
billion from the previous fi scal year-end. This was primarily due to 
contributions to total shareholders’ equity resulting from net income 
of ¥21.8 billion and a rise in valuation difference on available-for-sale 
securities, which more than offset the negative effect on total 
shareholders’ equity of cash dividends paid and decrease in minority 
interests, accompanying the inclusion of TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd., as a 
wholly owned subsidiary.
 Furthermore, the equity ratio at fi scal year-end was 58.9%, compared 
with 60.0% at the previous fi scal year-end.

Cash Flows Analysis

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased ¥49.6 billion 
year on year, to ¥38.0 billion. This was mainly attributable to a ¥16.6 
billion increase in notes and accounts receivable-trade and income 
taxes paid of ¥40.3 billion, counteracting income before income taxes 
and minority interests of ¥42.9 billion, depreciation and amortization 
of ¥16.1 billion, and a ¥22.5 billion increase in notes and accounts 
payable-trade.
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Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased from the previous 
fi scal year’s ¥29.5 billion to ¥59.0 billion. This mainly stemmed from 
purchase of short-term investment securities of ¥44.1 billion and 
purchase of property, plant and equipment of ¥24.0 billion.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by fi nancing activities was ¥0.9 billion, compared 
with the previous fi scal year’s net cash used in fi nancing activities of 
¥57.1 billion. This was primarily the result of proceeds from long-term 
loans payable of ¥34.4 billion, which offset cash dividends paid, 
including cash dividends paid to minority shareholders, of ¥10.2 billion; 
purchase of treasury stock of ¥8.4 billion; and redemption of bonds 
of ¥13.6 billion.
 As a result of the above, cash and cash equivalents at end of year 
amounted to ¥146.5 billion, down ¥19.3 billion from the previous 
fi scal year-end.

Fiscal 2013 Forecast (announced on May 11, 2012)

For fi scal 2013, ending March 31, 2013, we expect an 18.8% year-
on-year rise in net sales, to ¥470 billion, as a result of higher unit 
sales in the Pachislot and Pachinko Machine Business segment. 
Also, we anticipate year-on-year increases of 13.0% in operating 
income, to ¥66 billion, mainly due to restructuring of the Consumer 
Business segment in fi scal 2012 and lower cost of sales and operating 
expenses resulting from rationalization of this business segment’s 
organization, and 83.3% in net income, to ¥40 billion, refl ecting the 
absence of the extraordinary loss recognized for fi scal 2012.

Cash Flows
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Operational Risks

The SEGA SAMMY Group identifi es signifi cant risks within and outside 
its business management and refl ects them in its implementation 
of operations and takes measures to reduce losses of management 
resources and prevent recurrence. Risks that could affect the perfor-
mance or operations of the Group are shown below. Furthermore, 
the actualization of risks to an extent beyond that envisioned by the 
Group, including the actualization of risks other than those shown below, 
could affect the Group’s business results signifi cantly. In addition, 
forward-looking statements in the following text are the judgments 
of the Group as of the date of fi ling its annual securities report.

(1)  Statutory Regulations and Reliance on the Pachislot and 

Pachinko Machine Business

Among mainstay businesses, the Pachislot and Pachinko Machine 
Business segment accounts for the majority of the Group’s net sales 
and operating income. Securing stable earnings from this segment 
is an important management task going forward. The products the 
Group sells must conform to technical specifi cations pursuant to 
the Public Safety Commission’s “regulations for the verifi cation of 
licenses, formats, and other aspects of pachislot and pachinko 
machines,” which are based on the Entertainment Establishments 
Control Law of Japan and related laws and statutory regulations. 
Also, in July 2004, revisions were enacted to regulations pertaining 
to the Entertainment Establishments Control Law that mainly curbed 
gambling elements and sought to prevent the improper modifi cation 
of pachislot and pachinko machines. In the Group, the Ethics Committee 
regulates expressions that could encourage excessive gambling or 
invite misunderstanding. In addition, the Group has established an 
offi ce tasked with preventing improper manipulation of machines 
for profi t, which continually collects market information with a view 
to building machines that are resistant to improper manipulation. 
However, major changes in statutory regulations could signifi cantly 
affect the Group’s business results.

(2) Changes in Market Conditions

Due to sluggish consumer spending, the Pachislot and Pachinko 
Machine Business segment is likely to continue facing challenging 
business conditions. Furthermore, amid intensifying competition 
among pachinko halls to attract customers, pachinko hall operators’ 
purchasing of new-model machines is increasingly focusing on 
pachislot and pachinko machines with high popularity or appealing 
gameplay that is likely to attract customers. In response to this 
change in market conditions, the Group is concentrating efforts on 
developing a product lineup that features new types of gameplay 
and meets the needs of a wide range of players. Also, aiming for 
further unit sales growth over the medium-to-long term, the Group 
has begun building a new plant and distribution center to enable it to 
provide timely supplies in response to an expected rise in orders.

 However, progress in the development of new-model machines, 
the outcomes of format examinations, the Group’s ability to acquire 
offi cial licenses, product malfunctions, and changes in user preferences 
could signifi cantly affect the Group’s business results.
 The Amusement Machine Sales Business segment’s market in 
Japan is stable. However, changes in consumer spending trends, market 
trends, or player needs could lead amusement center operators to curb 
capital investment, which could affect the Group’s business results. 
 Mindful of the need to cater to such market changes through 
development that refl ects player needs, in recent years the Group 
has been concentrating on the development of products that exploit 
networks to offer new types of gameplay. In addition, the Group 
intends to focus efforts on revitalizing the overall amusement center 
industry by continuing to offer a revenue-sharing business model 
that enhances investment effi ciency for amusement center operators 
while providing the Group with long-term, stable revenues.
 The Amusement Center Operations segment will continue strength-
ening the operational management capabilities of its amusement 
centers to improve earnings further. However, because this business 
segment is susceptible to consumer spending trends, its ability to 
introduce amusement arcade machines that meet diverse player 
needs could affect the Group’s business results.
 Furthermore, the Amusement Center Operations segment is subject 
to regulation based on the Entertainment Establishments Control Law 
and other related statutory laws and regulations, including cabinet 
orders and ministerial ordinances. The Group complies with this law 
and related statutory laws and regulations. However, the enactment 
of new laws or revisions to this law and related statutory laws and 
regulations could affect the Group’s business results.
 Although the Consumer Business segment’s home video game 
software market is contracting, the Group is building systems that 
enable it to generate stable earnings even in these conditions. However, 
in such overseas markets as North America, Europe, and Asia, exchange 
rate fl uctuations could affect the Group’s business results. Moreover, 
the Group faces the risk of being affected by deterioration in overseas 
markets due to war, confl ict, or terrorism.
 Also, as new video game platforms emerge, the video game 
industry is undergoing a tectonic shift worldwide. These platforms 
include smartphones, which are attracting casual players and new 
players mainly to video game content that they can play casually, 
and social networking services (SNS), which offer social games that 
are seeing growing numbers of players. The Group will maximize 
earnings by concentrating the allocation of management resources 
on content businesses for these fast-growing SNS and smartphone 
platforms. At the same time, it will build appropriate operational 
structures that refl ect changing conditions, accelerate business 
management decision-making, and cater to diverse customer needs.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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 However, statutory laws and regulations beyond the Group’s control 
or changes in the conditions the Consumer Business segment faces 
could affect the Group’s business results.

(3) Sales Opportunity Loss

Because the manufacturing of pachislot and pachinko machines 
takes a short time, the Group manufactures machines in response 
to order trends. However, generally short marketing periods result in 
product shipments concentrating on the initial period after product 
launches. Therefore, as a countermeasure, the Group is introducing 
common components, shortening component procurement lead 
times, and strengthening inventory control. However, the Group 
may not be able to procure suffi cient raw materials for manufacturing 
in response to large order volumes in the initial period after product 
launches. Furthermore, the overlapping of the timing of the Group’s 
product launches and competitors’ launches of popular products could 
result in orders being below target, giving rise to surplus components. 
If it is unable to make effective use of these surplus components, 
the Group could incur losses on disposal of components.
 Comparatively, manufacturing amusement arcade machines 
takes a long time. Consequently, the Group manufactures these 
machines based on demand estimates. However, changes in player 
preferences, changes in business conditions, or the uncertainty of 
growth could affect the Group’s business results.
 Home video game software is susceptible to changes in seasonal 
demand, which focuses on such periods as the year-end shopping 
season. If the Group is unable to supply new products during such 
selling periods, surplus inventory could arise, and the Group could 
incur losses on disposal of inventory.

(4) Business Expansion through M&A

To strengthen existing businesses and enter new business areas 
effi ciently, the Group explores mergers and acquisitions (M&As) in 
Japan and overseas. However, statutory laws and regulations beyond 
the Group’s control, changes in the conditions the Group faces, or 
an inability to generate synergies initially anticipated could affect the 
Group’s earnings.

(5) Adoption of Asset-Impairment Accounting

In fi scal 2006, the Company adopted asset-impairment accounting. 
Losses arising as a result of the adoption of asset-impairment 
accounting and an inability to realize adequate return on investment, 
due to the business results of respective businesses and future 
cash fl ows, could affect the Group’s business results. 

(6) Investment Securities

The Group holds investment securities to build business relationships 
and earn investment returns. The valuation of investment securities 
refl ects stock market trends and the fi nancial positions and business 
results of issuers. Therefore, the recognition of impairment due to 
falls in market prices or declines in effective prices could result in 
the recognition of a loss on valuation of investment securities, which 
could affect the Group’s business results.

(7) Management of Personal Information

The Group holds personal information relating to the customers of 
its products and services through the operation of membership-
based web sites. In light of the enactment of the Act on the Protection 
of Personal Information, the Group is strengthening the rigor of its 
personal information management. However, in the unlikely event 
of a leakage of personal information or its improper use, the resulting 
loss of trust or lawsuits fi led against the Group could affect the Group’s 
business results.

(8) Lawsuits

The Group implements measures to minimize the risk of claims for 
damages and other lawsuits being fi led against the Group by strength-
ening its compliance systems and by exercising due diligence to 
avoid the infringement of the intellectual property of third parties. 
However, lawsuits could be fi led against the Group claiming products 
the Group manufactures and sells infringe upon certain rights.

(9) Effect of Disasters

The Group includes crisis management rules in its company regulations, 
identifi es its business activities’ inherent risks, and takes measures 
to mitigate risks and prevent crises as a matter of normal practice. In 
addition, the Group has established and maintains systems to 
respond immediately to major crises. However, the interruption of 
manufacturing activities or sales activities as a result of greater-
than-anticipated physical damage or casualties among personnel at 
the headquarters, operating bases, or manufacturing bases of 
Group companies or those of the Group’s business partners due to 
large-scale natural disasters—such as earthquakes, fi res, or fl oods—
or terrorist attacks or changes in political conditions could affect the 
business results of the Group.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
SEGA SAMMY HOLDINGS INC. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2012 and 2011
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

ASSETS

 Current assets

  Cash and deposits (Note 4(1)) ¥127,721 ¥149,006 $1,555,115 

  Notes and accounts receivable-trade 73,554 56,468 895,584 

  Allowance for doubtful accounts (593) (472) (7,222)

  Short-term investment securities 66,509 42,412 809,806 

  Merchandise and fi nished goods 6,677 5,889 81,300 

  Work in process 6,992 14,916 85,139 

  Raw materials and supplies 20,890 15,567 254,362 

  Income taxes receivable 6,740 5,861 82,071 

  Deferred tax assets 6,347 13,795 77,281 

  Other 12,805 12,136 155,911 

  Total current assets 327,645 315,580 3,989,350 

 Noncurrent assets

  Property, plant and equipment

   Buildings and structures (Note 4(1)) 91,568 48,271 1,114,916 

    Accumulated depreciation (69,197) (28,150) (842,532)

    Buildings and structures, net 22,370 20,120 272,383 

   Amusement machines and facilities 49,024 49,869 596,914 

    Accumulated depreciation (43,322) (45,318) (527,491)

    Amusement machines and facilities,net 5,701 4,550 69,422 

   Land (Note 4(1)) 29,457 24,643 358,664 

   Construction in progress 12,608 1,155 153,516 

   Other 55,935 41,889 681,056 

    Accumulated depreciation (47,899) (35,218) (583,220)

    Other, net 8,035 6,670 97,835 

   Total property, plant and equipment 78,173 57,140 951,823 

  Intangible assets

   Goodwill 10,790 15,559 131,386 

   Other 10,517 7,195 128,063 

   Total intangible assets 21,308 22,754 259,450 

  Investments and other assets

   Investment securities (Note 4(2)) 52,725 44,193 641,974 

   Long-term loans receivable 291 306 3,551 

   Lease and guarantee deposits 13,057 12,396 158,982 

   Deferred tax assets 357 1,988 4,351 

   Other 5,131 5,646 62,485 

   Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,239) (1,382) (15,091)

   Total investments and other assets 70,324 63,149 856,253 

  Total noncurrent assets 169,805 143,044 2,067,526 

 Total assets ¥497,451 ¥458,624 $6,056,877 

See accompanying notes.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

LIABILITIES

 Current liabilities

  Notes and accounts payable-trade (Note 4(1)) ¥ 59,917 ¥ 37,513 $  729,539 

  Short-term loans payable (Note 4(1) and (5)) 10,194 2,857 124,120 

  Current portion of bonds 23,515 11,892 286,314 

  Income taxes payable 5,550 26,310 67,582 

  Accrued expenses (Note 4(1)) 12,573 17,546 153,095 

  Provision for bonuses 2,745 2,373 33,431 

  Provision for directors’ bonuses 917 956 11,172 

  Provision for point card certifi cates — 143 —

  Provision for business restructuring 4,737 — 57,687 

  Asset retirement obligations 199 185 2,426 

  Deferred tax liabilities 0 0 5 

  Other 12,046 9,247 146,679 

  Total current liabilities 132,398 109,028 1,612,057 

 Noncurrent liabilities

  Bonds payable 11,943 29,608 145,424 

  Long-term loans payable (Note 4(1) and (5)) 25,052 5,316 305,030 

  Provision for retirement benefi ts 14,527 12,656 176,886 

  Provision for directors’ retirement benefi ts 293 1,203 3,572 

  Deferred tax liabilities 3,498 2,782 42,591 

  Deferred tax liabilities for land revaluation 846 958 10,301 

  Asset retirement obligations 1,943 1,848 23,661 

  Other 10,572 9,760 128,729 

  Total noncurrent liabilities 68,676 64,135 836,197 

 Total liabilities 201,075 173,163 2,448,255 

NET ASSETS

 Shareholders’ equity

  Capital stock 29,953 29,953 364,703 

  Capital surplus 119,397 119,784 1,453,759 

  Retained earnings 175,173 164,669 2,132,880 

  Treasury stock (26,067) (25,329) (317,396)

  Total shareholders’ equity 298,456 289,077 3,633,946 

 Accumulated other comprehensive income

  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 18,872 11,350 229,788 

  Deferred gains or losses on hedges — (0) —

  Revaluation reserve for land (Note 4(4)) (4,541) (5,969) (55,302)

  Foreign currency translation adjustment (19,681) (19,264) (239,633)

  Total accumulated other comprehensive income (5,350) (13,883) (65,147)

 Subscription rights to shares 991 406 12,068 

 Minority interests 2,279 9,861 27,753 

 Total net assets 296,376 285,461 3,608,621 

Total liabilities and net assets ¥497,451 ¥458,624 $6,056,877 

See accompanying notes.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Net sales ¥395,502 ¥396,732 $4,815,571 
Cost of sales (Note 5(1)and(2)) 233,839 230,677 2,847,185 
Gross profi t 161,663 166,055 1,968,386 
 Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 5(2)) 103,279 97,304 1,257,511 
Operating income 58,384 68,750 710,874 
Other income (expenses)
 Interest income 386 463 4,706 
 Dividends income 495 311 6,038 
 Equity in earnings of affi liates — 35 —
 Gain on investments in partnership 507 391 6,176 
 Income from operation of lease asset 88 92 1,074 
 Gain on valuation of derivatives 18 — 226 
 Interest expenses (676) (637) (8,241)
 Equity in losses of affi liates (8) — (107)
 Sales discounts (33) (198) (403)
 Commission fee (481) (399) (5,867)
 Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts (2) (32) (30)
 Loss on investments in partnership (140) (97) (1,712)
 Foreign exchange losses (210) (206) (2,564)
 Penalty payment for cancellation of game center lease agreement (2) (18) (31)
 Loss on valuation of derivatives — (263) —
 Gain on sales of noncurrent assets 163 34 1,996 
 Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts — 315 —
 Gain on sales of subsidiaries and affi liates’ stocks 173 — 2,106 
 Gain on sales of investment securities 56 52 683 
 Gain on change in equity — 125 —
 Reversal of recovery costs of video game arcades 1 544 18 
 Gain on outlawed debt — 167 —
 Gain on reversal of subscription rights to shares — 1,174 —
 Distribution of patent royalty income for prior periods — 1,139 —
 Gain on negative goodwill 2,152 — 26,207 
 Gain on liquidation of subsidiaries and affi liates 489 — 5,959 
 Loss on retirement of noncurrent assets — (296) —
 Loss on sales of noncurrent assets (2) (40) (31)
 Impairment loss (Note 5(4)) (3,341) (1,502) (40,682)
 Loss on valuation of investment securities (189) (1,308) (2,307)
 Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries (5) (1,468) (65)
 Amortization of goodwill (3,363) (204) (40,958)
 Loss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard for asset retirement obligations — (1,177) —
 Cost of product compensation related — (5,225) —
 Loss on disaster — (1,254) —
 The settlement payment for patent licensing (3,500) — (42,615)
 Restructuring loss(Note 5(3)) (6,308) — (76,806)
 Other,net (1,679) (1,800) (20,455)
 Subtotal (15,414) (11,283) (187,687)
Income before income taxes and minority interests 42,969 57,467 523,187 
Income taxes-current 13,056 27,460 158,979 
Income taxes-deferred 7,465 (14,140) 90,902 
Total income taxes (Note 14(2)) 20,522 13,320 249,881 
Income before minority interests 22,446 44,147 273,305 
Minority interests in income 626 2,636 7,627 
Net income 21,820 41,510 265,677 
Minority interests in income 626 2,636 7,627 
Income before minority interests 22,446 44,147 273,305 
Other comprehensive income (Note 5(5))
 Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 7,526 10,986 91,640 
 Deferred gains or losses on hedges 0 (24) 0 
 Revaluation reserve for land 112 — 1,372 
 Foreign currency translation adjustment (434) (1,684) (5,288)
 Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method 5 10 68 
 Total other comprehensive income 7,210 9,288 87,792 
Comprehensive income 29,656 53,435 361,098 
Comprehensive income attributable to
 Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 29,038 50,852 353,564 
 Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests ¥    618 ¥  2,582 $    7,533 

See accompanying notes.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Shareholders’ equity

 Capital stock

  Balance at the beginning of the period ¥ 29,953 ¥ 29,953 $  364,703 

  Changes of items during the period

   Total changes of items during the period — — —

  Balance at the end of the period 29,953 29,953 364,703 

 Capital surplus

  Balance at the beginning of the period 119,784 171,080 1,458,468 

  Changes of items during the period

   Increase by share exchanges (394) (11,294) (4,807)

   Retirement of treasury stock — (40,000) —

   Disposal of treasury stock (0) (1) (5)

   Change of scope of consolidation 8 — 103 

   Total changes of items during the period (386) (51,296) (4,709)

  Balance at the end of the period 119,397 119,784 1,453,759 

 Retained earnings

  Balance at the beginning of the period 164,669 132,128 2,004,989 

  Changes of items during the period

   Dividends from surplus (10,057) (8,816) (122,456)

   Net income 21,820 41,510 265,677 

   Change of scope of consolidation 55 (155) 674 

   Reversal of revaluation reserve for land (1,314) 2 (16,004)

   Total changes of items during the period 10,503 32,541 127,891 

  Balance at the end of the period 175,173 164,669 2,132,880 

 Treasury stock

  Balance at the beginning of the period (25,329) (73,694) (308,411)

  Changes of items during the period

   Increase by share exchanges 7,724 32,890 94,054 

   Retirement of treasury stock — 40,000 —

   Purchase of treasury stock (8,469) (24,530) (103,120)

   Disposal of treasury stock 6 3 80 

   Total changes of items during the period (737) 48,364 (8,985)

  Balance at the end of the period (26,067) (25,329) (317,396)

 Total shareholders’ equity

  Balance at the beginning of the period 289,077 259,468 3,519,750 

  Changes of items during the period

   Dividends from surplus (10,057) (8,816) (122,456)

   Net income 21,820 41,510 265,677 

   Increase by share exchanges 7,329 21,595 89,246 

   Retirement of treasury stock — — —

   Purchase of treasury stock (8,469) (24,530) (103,120)

   Disposal of treasury stock 6 2 75 

   Change of scope of consolidation 63 (155) 777 

   Reversal of revaluation reserve for land (1,314) 2 (16,004)

   Total changes of items during the period 9,378 29,609 114,196 

  Balance at the end of the period ¥298,456 ¥289,077 $3,633,946 

See accompanying notes.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Accumulated other comprehensive income
 Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities
  Balance at the beginning of the period ¥ 11,350 ¥    346 $  138,197 
  Changes of items during the period
   Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 7,522 11,003 91,590 
   Total changes of items during the period 7,522 11,003 91,590 
  Balance at the end of the period 18,872 11,350 229,788 
 Deferred gains or losses on hedges
  Balance at the beginning of the period (0) 24 (0)
  Changes of items during the period
   Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 0 (24) 0 
   Total changes of items during the period 0 (24) 0 
  Balance at the end of the period — (0) —
 Revaluation reserve for land
  Balance at the beginning of the period (5,969) (5,966) (72,678)
  Changes of items during the period
   Reversal of revaluation reserve for land 1,314 (2) 16,004 
   Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 112 — 1,372 
   Total changes of items during the period 1,427 (2) 17,376 
  Balance at the end of the period (4,541) (5,969) (55,302)
 Foreign currency translation adjustment
  Balance at the beginning of the period (19,264) (17,626) (234,557)
  Changes of items during the period
   Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity (416) (1,637) (5,076)
   Total changes of items during the period (416) (1,637) (5,076)
  Balance at the end of the period (19,681) (19,264) (239,633)
 Total accumulated other comprehensive income
  Balance at the beginning of the period (13,883) (23,222) (169,039)
  Changes of items during the period
   Reversal of revaluation reserve for land  1,314 (2) 16,004 
   Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 7,218 9,341 87,886 
   Total changes of items during the period 8,532 9,338 103,891 
  Balance at the end of the period (5,350) (13,883) (65,147)
Subscription rights to shares
 Balance at the beginning of the period 406 1,188 4,943 
 Changes of items during the period
  Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 585 (782) 7,125 
  Total changes of items during the period 585 (782) 7,125 
 Balance at the end of the period 991 406 12,068 
Minority interests
 Balance at the beginning of the period 9,861 19,335 120,068 
 Changes of items during the period
  Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity (7,581) (9,474) (92,314)
  Total changes of items during the period (7,581) (9,474) (92,314)
 Balance at the end of the period 2,279 9,861 27,753 
Total net assets
 Balance at the beginning of the period 285,461 256,770 3,475,723 
 Changes of items during the period
  Dividends from surplus (10,057) (8,816) (122,456)
  Net income 21,820 41,510 265,677 
  Increase by share exchanges 7,329 21,595 89,246 
  Retirement of treasury stock — — —
  Purchase of treasury stock (8,469) (24,530) (103,120)
  Disposal of treasury stock 6 2 75 
  Change of scope of consolidation 63 (155) 777 
  Reversal of revaluation reserve for land — — —
  Net changes of items other than shareholders’ equity 221 (915) 2,697 
  Total changes of items during the period 10,914 28,690 132,897 
 Balance at the end of the period ¥296,376 ¥285,461 $3,608,621 

See accompanying notes.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Cash fl ows from operating activities:

 Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 42,969 ¥57,467 $ 523,187 

 Depreciation and amortization 16,158 15,949 196,741 

 Impairment loss 3,341 1,502 40,682 

 Amount of transfer of equipment by amusement center operation business (3,796) (3,074) (46,221)

 Loss (gain) on sales of noncurrent assets (161) 5 (1,967)

 Loss on retirement of noncurrent assets 217 296 2,648 

 L oss on adjustment for changes of accounting standard for asset retirement obligations — 1,177 —

 Loss (gain) on sales of stocks of subsidiaries and affi liates (173) — (2,106)

 Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries 5 1,468 65 

 Loss (gain) on sales of investment securities (49) 113 (607)

 Loss (gain) on valuation of investment securities 189 1,308 2,307 

 Loss (gain) on investments in partnership (366) (294) (4,463)

 Amortization of goodwill 6,363 1,875 77,478 

 Gain on negative goodwill (2,152) — (26,207)

 Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts (57) (719) (699)

 Increase (decrease) in provision for directors’ bonuses (39) 302 (475)

 Increase (decrease) in provision for point card certifi cates (5) (17) (66)

 Increase (decrease) in provision for retirement benefi ts 877 438 10,683 

 Increase (decrease) in provision for directors’ retirement benefi ts (910) 107 (11,086)

 Increase (decrease) in provision for bonuses 375 (136) 4,571 

 Interest and dividends income (882) (775) (10,745)

 Interest expenses 676 637 8,241 

 Foreign exchange losses (gains) (126) 171 (1,544)

 Equity in (earnings) losses of affi liates 8 (35) 107 

 Loss (gain) on change in equity — (81) —

 Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable-trade (16,632) 10,033 (202,508)

 Decrease (increase) in inventories 2,186 (737) 26,628 

 Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable-trade 22,519 222 274,198 

 Increase (decrease) in guarantee deposits received 176 35 2,152 

 Other, net 1,709 7,268 20,816 

 Subtotal 72,423 94,507 881,809 

 Interest and dividends income received 855 653 10,413 

 Interest expenses paid (654) (653) (7,969)

 Income taxes paid (40,396) (9,565) (491,856)

 Income taxes refund 5,796 2,755 70,572 

 Net cash provided by operating activities ¥ 38,023 ¥87,696 $ 462,970 

See accompanying notes.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S.dollars(Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Cash fl ows from investing activities:

 Payments into time deposits ¥   (380) ¥  (1,185) $   (4,637)

 Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 1,097 1,288 13,368 

 Purchase of short-term investment securities (44,102) (24,300) (536,978)

 Proceeds from redemption of securities 22,066 8,195 268,681 

 Purchase of trust benefi ciary right (6,097) (7,293) (74,245)

 Proceeds from sales of trust benefi ciary right 5,114 7,511 62,274 

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (24,005) (10,901) (292,282)

 Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 988 197 12,039 

 Purchase of intangible assets (6,469) (3,571) (78,776)

 Proceeds from sales of intangible assets — 1 —

 Purchase of investment securities (1,961) (5,413) (23,878)

 Proceeds from sales of investment securities 105 1,239 1,281 

 Proceeds from redemption of investment securities 1,000 3,800 12,175 

 Payments for investment in partnerships (176) (190) (2,149)

 Proceeds from distribution of investment in partnerships 631 1,062 7,692 

 Purchase of investments in subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of consolidation (7,551) (120) (91,943)

 P roceeds from purchase of investments in subsidiaries resulting in change in scope 
of consolidation — 30 —

 P ayments for sales of investments in subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of 
consolidation (165) — (2,017)

 Proceeds from liquidation of subsidiaries 2,100 — 25,575 

 Purchase of stocks of subsidiaries and affi liates (306) (1,030) (3,730)

 Payments of loans receivable (118) (66) (1,444)

 Collection of loans receivable 135 46 1,653 

 Payments for lease deposits (1,022) (563) (12,449)

 Collection of lease deposits 680 1,674 8,283 

 Proceeds from transfer of business 0 23 10 

 Other, net (577) (20) (7,032)

 Net cash used in investing activities (59,012) (29,585) (718,529)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities:

 Net increase (decrease) in short-term loans payable (1,500) 55 (18,263)

 Proceeds from long-term loans payable 34,430 — 419,213 

 Repayment of long-term loans payable (6,157) (1,512) (74,970)

 Proceeds from issuance of bonds 7,474 — 91,010 

 Redemption of bonds (13,642) (20,600) (166,108)

 Proceeds from stock issuance to minority shareholders — 103 —

 Cash dividends paid (10,043) (8,810) (122,283)

 Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (199) (399) (2,430)

 Purchase of treasury stock (8,430) (24,530) (102,650)

 Other, net (1,017) (1,473) (12,386)

Net cash provided by (used in) fi nancing activities 914 (57,168) 11,130 

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents 22 (1,191) 277 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (20,052) (248) (244,151)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 165,983 167,000 2,020,989 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents from newly consolidated subsidiary 667 35 8,127 

D ecrease in cash and cash equivalents resulting from exclusion of subsidiaries 
from consolidation — (803) —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Note 7) ¥146,599 ¥165,983 $1,784,965 

See accompanying notes.
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 NOTE 1  

Basis of Presenting Consolidated Financial Statements 
The accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of SEGA SAMMY 
HOLDINGS INC. (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries 
have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the 
Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and its related 
accounting regulations, and in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different 
in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements from 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 The accounts of the Company’s overseas subsidiaries are based 
on their accounting records maintained in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles prevailing in the respective countries 
of domicile. However, necessary adjustments are made upon consoli-
dation for 2012 and 2011. The accompanying consolidated fi nancial 
statements have been restructured and translated into English (with 
certain expanded disclosure) from the consolidated fi nancial statements 
of the Company prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and 
fi led with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry of 
Finance as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law 
of Japan. Certain supplementary information included in the statutory 
Japanese-language consolidated fi nancial statements is not presented 
in the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements.
 In preparing the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements, 
certain reclassifi cations have been made in order to present them in 
a form which is more familiar to readers outside Japan. Certain 
reclassifi cations have been made to the 2011 consolidated fi nancial 
statements to conform to the classifi cations used in 2012. These 
changes had no impact on previously reported results of operations 
or shareholders’ equity.
 The translation of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollars is 
rounded down to the nearest unit amount, and is included solely for 
the convenience of readers outside Japan, using the prevailing 
exchange rate at March 31, 2012, which was ¥82.13 to U.S. $1. 
The convenience translations should not be construed as represen-
tations that the Japanese yen amounts have been, could have been 
or could in the future be converted into U.S. dollars at this or any 
other rate of exchange.

 NOTE 2  

Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies
(1) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the accounts of the 
Company and its signifi cant subsidiaries, which are controlled 
through substantial ownership of majority voting rights or existence 
of certain conditions. All signifi cant inter-company balances, trans-
actions and unrealized profi ts have been eliminated. The number of 
consolidated subsidiaries is 63 in 2012.

 From the year ended March 31, 2012, the following companies 
became the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries: Phoenix Resort Co., 
Ltd. and one other company, because of the Company’s acquisition 
of the shareholdings; Sega Jinwin (Shanghai) Amusements Co., Ltd. 
and one other company, because of the increase of importance; 
D×L CREATION Co., Ltd. and one other company, which were 
newly established with the Company’s investment.
 From the year ended March 31, 2012, the following companies 
have been excluded from the scope of consolidation: REALUS INC. 
and four other companies, because of sale of the group companies’ 
shareholdings; Sega Amusements U.S.A., Inc. and four other com-
panies, because of its liquidation; patina Co., Ltd., because of its 
merger with SAKO Co., Ltd. (accordingly changing its trade name to 
patina Co., Ltd.).
 The number of non-consolidated subsidiaries is 12 in 2012.
Main non-consolidated subsidiaries: SEGA (Shanghai) Software 
Co., Ltd., etc.
 All non-consolidated subsidiaries are excluded from the scope of 
consolidation because the combined amounts in assets, net sales, 
net income and retained earnings applicable to the equity interest of 
the Company are immaterial.

(2) Equity method
Investments in affi liated companies over which the Company has 
the ability to exercise signifi cant infl uence over their operation and 
fi nancial policies are accounted for by the equity method. 
The number of non-consolidated subsidiaries accounted for under 
the equity method is 3 in 2012.
 Main equity-method non-consolidated subsidiaries: DARTSLIVE 
INTERNATIONAL Ltd. and two other companies.
 From the year ended March 31, 2012, the following were included 
in the scope of application of the equity-method; DARTSLIVE 
INTERNATIONAL Ltd., which was newly established with the 
Group’s investment; DARTSLIVE ASIA Ltd. and one other company, 
because of the increase of importance.
 The number of affi liated companies accounted for under the equity 
method is 9 in 2012.
Main equity-method affi liated companies: INTERLIFE HOLDINGS 
CO., LTD., CRI Middleware Co., Ltd., and seven other companies.
 The number of non-consolidated subsidiaries and affi liated com-
panies which are not accounted for by the equity method is 16 in 2012.
 Main non-consolidated subsidiaries and affi liated companies not 
accounted for by the equity method:
Liverpool Co., Ltd., etc.
 The equity method was not applied to non-consolidated subsid-
iaries and affi liated companies because the combined amounts of 
these companies in net income and retained earnings applicable to 
the equity interest of the Company are immaterial.
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(3) Valuation and accounting treatment for important assets
a.  Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at amortized cost (the 

straight-line method).
b. Other marketable securities
Securities with fair market value are stated at fair market value. The 
difference between acquisition cost and market value is accounted for 
as net unrealized holding gains or losses on securities in net asset, 
with cost of sales determined by the moving-average method.
c.  Other securities without quoted market prices are carried at cost, 

which is determined by the moving-average method.
The net amount of equity included in the Company’s fi nancial state-
ments from limited liability investment partnerships and similar 
investments, regarded as marketable securities under Article 2-2 of 
the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan, is calculated 
based on the relevant fi nancial statements for the partnership available 
as of the reporting date stipulated in the partnership agreement.
d. Derivatives
Derivatives are stated at fair market value.
e. Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost, cost being determined mainly by the 
gross-average method (with regard to the amounts stated in the bal-
ance sheet, the method of book value devaluation based on decline 
in profi tability is used).
 Also, work in process is stated at cost, cost being determined 
mainly by the specifi c identifi cation method (with regard to the amounts 
stated in the balance sheet, the method of book value devaluation 
based on decline in profi tability is used).

(4) Depreciation and amortization for important assets 
a. Property, plant and equipment (excluding lease assets):
Depreciation is computed primarily using the declining-balance method.
 However, buildings (excluding attached equipment) acquired after 
April 1, 1998 are depreciated using the straight-line method.
 Range of useful life for the assets is as follows:
 Buildings and structures : 2–50 years
 Amusement game machines : 2–5 years
Regarding buildings and structures built on land leased under term 
leasehold contracts, the straight-line method is used with the remaining 
lease period as the useful life and the residual value as zero.
 Regarding property, plant and equipment acquired on or before 
March 31, 2007, the residual values are depreciated in accordance 
with the revised Corporation Tax Law. When the depreciated value of 
a property, plant and equipment reaches residual values in a certain 
fi scal year, the residual values of the asset is depreciated in an equal 
amount over fi ve years from the following fi scal year. 
b. Intangible assets (excluding lease assets):
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. The 
straight-line method is adopted over the useful life of within fi ve years 
for software for internal use.

c. Lease assets
Lease assets involving fi nance lease transactions of which the owner-
ship is transferred to lessees:
 Depreciation method for such assets is the same as that which 
applies to property, plant and equipment owned by the Company.
Lease assets involving fi nance lease transactions of which the owner-
ship is not transferred to lessees:
 Depreciation method is the straight-line method with their residual 
values being zero over their leased periods used as the number of 
years for useful life.

(5) Allowances and provisions
a. Allowance for doubtful accounts
The reserve for doubtful accounts is provided in the amount suffi cient 
to cover possible losses based on a historical write-off of general 
receivables. Allowance for doubtful accounts and bankrupt receivables 
are calculated based on an individual assessment of the possibility 
of collection.
b. Provision for bonuses
Accrued employees’ bonuses are provided based on the estimated 
amount to be paid.
c. Provision for directors’ bonuses
The estimated amount of bonuses was recorded to meet the bonus 
payments to directors and corporate auditors.
d. Provision for business restructuring
Of the expenses expected to incur in connection with business 
restructuring, those recognized to have incurred in the fi scal year 
are recorded.
e. Provision for retirement benefi ts
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries provide provision for 
retirement benefi ts based on the estimated amounts of projected 
benefi t obligation and the fair value of the plan assets. The estimated 
amount of all retirement benefi ts to be paid at the future retirement 
date is allocated equally to each service year using the estimated 
number of total service years. Prior service cost is charged to 
income when incurred except for SEGA CORPORATION and three 
other subsidiaries that recognize prior service cost as expenses 
using the straight-line method over 10 years. Actuarial gains and 
losses are charged to income in the succeeding period except for 
SEGA CORPORATION and three other subsidiaries that recognize 
actuarial gains and losses as expenses using the straight-line 
method over 10 years commencing from the succeeding period. 
f. Provision for directors’ retirement benefi ts
The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries provide 
provision for directors’ retirement benefi ts to adequately cover payment 
of such benefi ts at the end of the applicable period in accordance 
with internal regulations.

(6) Accounting for signifi cant hedge
a. Hedge accounting
The Company adopts deferred hedge accounting. However, special 
treatment (under special treatment, the net amount to be paid or 
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received under the interest rate swap contract is added to or 
deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for which the 
swap contract was executed) is used for qualifying interest rate 
swap transactions. Moreover, allocation hedge accounting is applied 
to qualifying forward exchange contracts.
b. Hedging instruments and hedged items
Hedging instrument: Interest rate swaps, forward exchange contracts
Hedged item: Interest on loans payable, receivables and payables 
denominated in foreign currencies
c. Hedge policy
Derivative instruments are used to mitigate risks associated with 
foreign exchange and interest rate fl uctuations. 
As a rule, hedging is only used for items in which actual demand 
exists, and not for speculative purposes.
d. Evaluation of hedge effectiveness
Hedge effectiveness is evaluated through comparative analysis of 
the cumulative fl uctuations in the market between the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument. For interest rate swaps applied to special 
treatment, hedge effectiveness is not evaluated.

(7) Amortization method and period of goodwill 
If the duration of the effect of goodwill can be rationally estimated, 
amortization is made over the estimated number of years. In other 
cases, amortization is made over a fi ve-year period by the straight-
line method. 

(8)  Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of cash 
fl ows

In preparing the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, cash on hand, 
readily available deposits and short-term highly liquid investments 
with maturities not exceeding three months at the time of purchase 
are considered to be cash and cash equivalents.

(9) Consumption taxes
Consumption taxes and local consumption taxes are accounted 
using the net-of-tax method.

(10) Application of the Consolidated Taxation System
The Company applied the Consolidated Taxation System from the 
year ended March 31, 2012.

 NOTE 3  

Additional Information
For accounting changes and corrections of prior period errors which are made after the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012, 
“Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (Accounting Standards Board of Japan (ASBJ) Statement No.24, issued 
on December 4, 2009) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections”(ASBJ Guidance No. 24, issued 
on December 4, 2009) have been applied.

 NOTE 4  

Notes to Consolidated Balance Sheets
(1) Assets pledged

Millions of yen

Assets pledged 2012 Liabilities to be covered 2012

Buildings and structures ¥243 Short-term loans payable ¥300

Land 210 — —

 Total 453  Total 300

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Assets pledged 2012 Liabilities to be covered 2012

Buildings and structures $2,959 Short-term loans payable $3,652

Land 2,566 — —

 Total 5,526  Total 3,652

Millions of yen

Assets pledged 2011 Liabilities to be covered 2011

Time deposits ¥    5 Accounts payable−trade ¥    2
Buildings and structures 1,202 Accrued expenses 0

Land 2,433 Short-term loans payable 900

— — Long-term loans payable 2,100

 Total 3,641  Total 3,003
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 NOTE 5  

Notes to Consolidated Statements of Income and 
Comprehensive Income
(1) Devaluation of inventories
The book value devaluation of inventories held for normal sales purpose 
based on decline in profi tability included in cost of sales amounted 
to ¥14,893 million ($181,336 thousand) and ¥6,547 million for the 
years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(2) Research and development expenses
Expenses relating to research and development activities have been 
charged to income as incurred, and amounted to ¥32,118 million 
($391,068 thousand) and ¥29,613 million for the years ended March 
31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(3) Restructuring loss
Restructuring loss is an estimated amount of expenses primarily 
recorded in association with inventory disposal and personnel reduc-
tions in response to the restructuring of the consumer business in 
the United States and Europe.

(4) Impairment loss
For each business segment, the Company classifi es assets or asset 
groups based on whether their cash fl ows can be estimated indepen-
dently. The book values of assets or asset groups whose market values 
declined signifi cantly or that are projected to consistently generate 
negative cash fl ows are reduced to their recoverable value. The amount 
of this reduction is deemed an impairment loss and is recorded under 
other expenses in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 
 The recoverable value is calculated using the fair value less cost 
to sell based on the current market price.

(2) Loan securities
Loan securities of ¥295 million ($3,597 thousand) and ¥282 million are included in investment securities as of March 31, 
2012 and 2011, respectively.

(3) Guarantee
Guarantee to companies as of March 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Guarantee Description 2012 2011 2012

Orix Premium Ltd. Lease obligation ¥1 ¥11 $15

(4) Revaluation reserve for land
Consolidated subsidiary SEGA CORPORATION has revalued land for 
commercial use, pursuant to Japan’s Law Concerning Revaluation of 
Land (Law No. 34, March 31, 1998) and Amendments to the Law 
Concerning  Revaluation of Land (Law No. 19, March 31, 2001). SEGA 
has recorded an item for the revaluation difference of land under 
net assets.

 SEGA CORPORATION computed the value of land based on the 
methodology regarding rational adjustments to valuation of fi xed 
assets stipulated in Article 2-3, and appraisals by licensed real estate 
appraisers prescribed in Article 2-5 of the Enforcement Ordinance 
No. 119 (March 31, 1998) pertaining to the Law Concerning Revaluation 
of Land.
 Date of revaluation: March 31, 2002

(5) Overdraft agreement and commitment line agreement
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have overdraft agreement and commitment line agreement with 13 banks for effective pro-
curement of working capital.
 Balance of unexecuted loans, etc. based on these agreements as of March 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Total amount of overdraft limit and commitment line agreement ¥62,825 ¥54,125 $764,945

Balance of executed loans 500 2,000 6,087

Unexecuted balance 62,325 52,125 758,857
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Impairment loss for the year ended March 31, 2012 consists of the following:

Impairment loss

Use Location Type Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Assets for business, etc. Ota-ku, Tokyo and 
17 other locations

Buildings and structures ¥1,814 $22,088
Other property, plant and equipment 176 2,150

Other intangible assets 422 5,146

Land 125 1,523

Assets for rent Chuo-ku, Osaka-shi, Osaka Land 760 9,253

Amusement facilities Chuo-ku, Osaka-shi, Osaka and 
7 other locations

Buildings and structures 33 403

Amusement game machines 0 1

Other intangible assets 9 113

Total 3,341 40,682

Impairment loss for the year ended March 31, 2011 consisted of the following:

Impairment loss

Use Location Type Millions of yen

Amusement facilities Chiba-shi, Chiba and 16 other 
locations

Buildings and structures ¥  201
Amusement game machines 2

Other property, plant and equipment 16

Other intangible assets 9

Kids Card related Inba-gun, Chiba Amusement game machines 776

Assets for business, etc. Shibuya-ku, Tokyo and 8 other 
locations 

Buildings and structures 58

Other property, plant and equipment 40

Other intangible assets 396

Total 1,502

(5) Reclassifi cation adjustments and the related tax effects concerning other comprehensive income

Millions of yen 
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2012 2012

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities
 The amount arising during the period ¥10,058 $122,472 

 Reclassifi cation adjustments 11 143

  Before adjustments to tax effects 10,070 122,615

  The amount of tax effects (2,544) (30,975)

  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 7,526 91,640

Deferred gains or losses on hedges 
 The amount arising during the period — —

 Reclassifi cation adjustments 0 0

  Before adjustments to tax effects 0 0

  The amount of tax effects — —

  Deferred gains or losses on hedges 0 0

Revaluation reserve for land 
  The amount of tax effects 112 1,372

  Revaluation reserve for land 112 1,372

Foreign currency translation adjustment 
 The amount arising during the period (430) (5,236)

 Reclassifi cation adjustments (4) (52)

  Before adjustments to tax effects (434) (5,288)

  The amount of tax effects — —

  Foreign currency translation adjustment (434) (5,288)

Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method
 The amount arising during the period 5 68

 Reclassifi cation adjustments — —

  Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method 5 68

   Total other comprehensive income 7,210 87,792
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 NOTE6  

Notes to Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
(1) Number of outstanding common stock:

Shares

2012 2011

Balance at beginning of the year 266,229,476 283,229,476

 Decrease due to retirement of treasury stock — 17,000,000

Balance at end of the year 266,229,476 266,229,476

(2) Number of outstanding treasury stock:

Shares

2012 2011

Balance at beginning of the year 14,504,662 31,315,801

 Increase due to purchase in the market by the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting 5,000,000 14,000,000

 Increase due to purchase demand pursuant to Article 797, Paragraph 1 of the Companies Act — 150,144
 I ncrease due to purchase demand pursuant to Article 197, Paragraph 3 and Paragraph 4 of the 

Companies Act 24,435 —

 Increase due to purchase of odd stock 93,147 18,445

 Decrease due to retirement of treasury stock — 17,000,000

 Decrease due to share exchange 4,423,546 13,977,737

 Decrease due to sale of odd stock 3,862 1,991

Balance at end of the year 15,194,836 14,504,662

(3) Dividends
Year ended March 31, 2012
1. Dividend

Resolution Type of stock
Total dividend

(Millions of yen) Dividend per share (Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on May 16, 2011

Common stock ¥5,034 ¥20 March 31, 2011 June 2, 2011

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on October 31, 2011

Common stock 5,022 20 September 30, 2011 December 2, 2011

Resolution Type of stock

Total dividend 
(Thousands of U.S. 

dollars(Note 1))
Dividend per share (U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on May 16, 2011

Common stock $61,299 $0.24 March 31, 2011 June 2, 2011

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on October 31, 2011

Common stock 61,157 0.24 September 30, 2011 December 2, 2011

2. Of the dividends of which the record date is in the year ended March 31, 2012, but the effective date is in the following fi scal year.

Resolution Type of stock Resource of dividend
Total dividend

(Millions of yen) Dividend per share (Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on May 11, 2012

Common stock
Retained 
earnings

¥5,020 ¥20 March 31, 2012 May 29, 2012

Resolution Type of stock Resource of dividend

Total dividend
(Thousands of

U.S. dollars(Note 1))
Dividend per share (U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on May 11, 2012

Common stock
Retained 
earnings

$61,131 $0.24 March 31, 2012 May 29, 2012
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Year ended March 31, 2011
1. Dividend

Resolution Type of Stock
Total dividend

(Millions of yen) Dividend per share (Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on May 14, 2010 Common stock ¥3,778 ¥15 March 31, 2010 June 1, 2010

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on October 29, 2010 Common stock 5,038 20 September 30, 

2010 December 2, 2010

2. Of the dividends of which the record date is in the year ended March 31, 2011, but the effective date is in the following fi scal year.

Resolution Type of Stock Resource of dividend
Total dividend

(Millions of yen) Dividend per share (Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of Directors’ meeting 
held on May 16, 2011

Common stock Retained earnings ¥5,034 ¥20 March 31, 2011 June 2, 2011

 NOTE 7  

Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2012 and 2011 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Cash and deposits ¥127,721 ¥149,006 $1,555,115 

Short-term investment securities 66,509 42,412 809,806 

Total 194,231 191,418 2,364,922 

Time deposits with maturities of more than three months (5,229) (5,534) (63,671)

S hort-term investment securities excluding commercial papers maturing within 
three months from the acquisition date (42,402) (19,899) (516,284)

Cash and cash equivalents 146,599 165,983 1,784,965 

 NOTE 8  

Information for Certain Leases
A summary of assumed amounts of acquisition cost, accumulated depreciation and net book value for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 
2011, with respect to the fi nance leases accounted for in the same manner as operating leases, is as follows:

Millions of yen

March 31, 2012 Acquisition cost
Accumulated 
depreciation Net book value

Structures ¥255 ¥255 ¥ 0

Tools, furniture and fi xtures 8 8 0

Machinery and equipment 155 155 —

Total 419 418 0

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

March 31, 2012 Acquisition cost
Accumulated 
depreciation Net book value

Structures $3,109 $3,106 $ 2

Tools, furniture and fi xtures 109 102 6 

Machinery and equipment 1,892 1,892 —

Total 5,111 5,101 9 
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Millions of yen

March 31, 2011 Acquisition cost
Accumulated 
depreciation Net book value

Structures ¥255 ¥218 ¥36
Tools, furniture and fi xtures 145 132 12

Machinery and equipment 155 133 22

Amusement machines 14 11 2

Total 570 496 74

Future lease payments under the fi nance leases that are accounted for in the same manner as operating leases as of March 31, 2012 and 
2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Due within one year ¥ 0 ¥76 $10

Due after one year — 0 —

Total 0 77 10

A summary of assumed amounts of lease payments, reversal of liability of impairment loss for lease assets, assumed depreciation and interest 
expenses for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, with respect to the fi nance leases accounted for in the same manner as operating 
leases, are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Lease payments ¥77 ¥231 $942

Reversal of liability of impairment loss for lease assets — 0 —

Depreciation 73 220 892

Interest expenses 0 3 8

Finance lease transaction:
Lease assets mainly consist of the following: Property, plant and 
equipment that are mainly facilities for amusement center opera-
tions, such as buildings and structures, amusement game machines.

The methods of depreciation for lease assets are as follows: 
Lease assets involving fi nance lease transactions under which the 

ownership of the lease assets is transferred to lessees are the same 
methods that are applied to property, plant and equipment owned 
by the Company. 
 Lease assets involving fi nance lease transactions under which 
the ownership of the lease assets is not transferred to lessees are 
the straight-line method, with their residual values being zero over 
their leased periods used as the number of years for useful life.

Operating lease transaction:
Future lease payments for operating lease transactions which cannot be canceled as of March 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Due within one year ¥1,922 ¥2,721 $23,411

Due after one year 2,173 5,145 26,459

Total 4,095 7,867 49,870
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 NOTE 9  

Financial Instruments
1. Outline of fi nancial instruments
(1) Policy for fi nancial instruments

The Group signed an agreement concerning commitment lines by 
the syndicated method, such as securing medium- to long-term fund 
liquidity with the Company as the holding company, as a safety net 
for the entire Group. In addition, capital for each business is fi nanced 
based on the fi nancial plan as needed, through bank borrowing or 
bond issue applying Cash Management System for purpose of the 
effi cient utilization of the Group’s funds. Funds are invested in low-risk 
fi nancial assets. Derivatives are used, not for speculative purposes, 
but to manage exposure to fi nancial risks as described later.

(2) Nature and extent of risks arising from fi nancial instruments 

Receivables such as notes and accounts receivable−trade are exposed 
to customer credit risks. In addition, foreign currency-denominated 
trade receivables are exposed to foreign currency exchange fl uctua-
tion risks. However, certain parts of the risks are hedged by forward 
exchange contracts. Short-term investment securities and investment 
securities are mainly held-to-maturity debt securities and the stocks 
acquired for business collaborations with business partners, and are 
exposed to the risk of market price fl uctuations.
 Of the payables such as notes and accounts payable−trade, trade 
payables denominated in foreign currencies are exposed to foreign 
currency exchange fl uctuation risks. However, certain parts of the 
risks are hedged by forward exchange contracts. Loans and bonds 
payable are for the purpose of procurement of funds necessary for 
operating funds and capital investment, and parts of them have 
fl oating interest rates. For this reason, they are exposed to interest 
rate fl uctuation risks.
 Derivative transactions consist of forward exchange contracts 
intended to hedge foreign currency exchange fl uctuation risks for trade 
receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies, as well as 
loan receivables denominated in foreign currencies, and interest swap 
transactions intended to hedge fl uctuation risks of interests on loans. For 
details on hedging instruments, hedged items, hedging policy and the 
method for evaluating hedging effectiveness concerning hedge account-
ing, please refer to the aforementioned “(6) Accounting for signifi cant 
hedge” in “Note 2 − Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies.”

(3) Risk management for fi nancial instruments

1) Credit risk management (customers’ default risk)
With respect to trade receivables, departments in charge regularly 
monitor the situations of major customers in compliance with each 
company’s management regulations for receivables, to control pay-
ment terms and balances of customers, in order to detect collection 
concerns such as worsening of fi nancial conditions early and to 
lessen the possibilities for collection problems.

 The credit risk for held-to-maturity debt securities is minimal 
because the investments of these fi nancial assets are limited to high 
credit rating issuers in accordance with the fund operation manage-
ment rules.
 Customers of derivative transactions are in principle limited to 
correspondent fi nancial institutions.
The amount of maximum risk as of the consolidated settlement 
date is expressed by the amounts of fi nancial assets exposed to 
credit risks in the balance sheet.
2)  Market risk management (foreign currency exchange and interest 

rate fl uctuation risks)
Certain consolidated subsidiaries use forward exchange contracts 
to hedge foreign currency exchange fl uctuation risks identifi ed by 
currency and by month, in parts of trade receivables and payables 
and loan receivables denominated in foreign currencies, and trade 
receivables and payables which are expected to certainly occur due 
to exports and imports (forecasted transactions). In addition, certain 
consolidated subsidiaries use interest rate swap transactions intended 
to hedge fl uctuation risks of interests on variable interest-loans. With 
respect to short-term investment securities and investment securities, 
their fair values and fi nancial positions of the related issuers (the 
counterparties) are regularly checked for reports at each company’s 
Board of Directors’ meeting, etc. In addition, holding of short-term 
investment securities and investment securities other than held-to-
maturity debt securities are continuously reviewed in consideration 
of relationships with the counterparties.
With regards to derivative transactions, the fi nancial department or 
the accounting department executes and manages transactions 
upon obtaining internal approvals in compliance with the regulations 
approved by each company’s Board of Directors’ meetings. In addition, 
reports on the situations of derivative transactions are made to each 
company’s Board of Directors’ meeting when and where appropriate.
3) Liquidity risk management on fund raising (risk for delinquency)
Trade payables and loans are exposed to liquidity risk. In the Group, 
liquidity risk is managed by setting an appropriate fund balance for 
each company, and by each company updating fund plans monthly 
to maintain the balance that exceeds the set fund balance, and by 
the Company confi rming each company’s cash position.

(4)  Supplementary explanations concerning fair values of 

fi nancial instruments

Fair values of fi nancial instruments comprise values determined based 
on market prices and values determined reasonably when there is 
no market price. Since variable factors are incorporated in computing 
the relevant fair values, such fair values may vary depending on the 
different assumptions. The notional amounts and other information 
described in “Note 11 − Derivative Transactions” do not indicate the 
amounts of market risk exposed to derivative transactions.
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2. Matters concerning the fair value of fi nancial instruments
The consolidated balance sheet amount and fair value of fi nancial instruments as of March 31, 2012 as well as the differences between these values 
are described below. Financial instruments whose fair values are not readily determinable are not included in the table. (See Note 2 below)
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Fair value

Valuation gains 
(losses)

(1) Cash and deposits ¥127,721 ¥127,721 ¥  —

(2) Notes and accounts receivable−trade 73,554 73,531 (22)

(3) Short-term investment securities and investment securities

 1) Held-to-maturity debt securities 1,620 1,615 (4)

 2) Available-for-sale securities (*1) 112,619 112,619 —

 3) Equity securities issued by affiliated companies 516 385 (130)

Total assets 316,032 315,873 (158)

(1) Notes and accounts payable−trade 59,917 59,917 —

(2) Short-term loans payable 10,194 10,194 —

(3) Long-term loans payable 25,052 25,093 (41)

(4) Current portion of corporate bonds 23,515 23,515 —

(5) Corporate bonds payable 11,943 12,085 (141)

Total liabilities 130,622 130,805 (183)

Derivative transactions (*2)

 1) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied (1) (1) —

 2) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied — — —

Total derivative transactions (1) (1) —

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Fair value

Valuation gains 
(losses)

(1) Cash and deposits $1,555,115 $1,555,115 $   —

(2) Notes and accounts receivable−trade 895,584 895,306 (277)

(3) Short-term investment securities and investment securities

 1) Held-to-maturity debt securities 19,726 19,669 (57)

 2) Available-for-sale securities (*1) 1,371,232 1,371,232 —

 3) Equity securities issued by affiliated companies 6,289 4,697 (1,591) 

Total assets 3,847,949 3,846,022  (1,926)

(1) Notes and accounts payable−trade 729,539 729,539 —

(2) Short-term loans payable 124,120 124,120 —

(3) Long-term loans payable 305,030 305,532 (502) 

(4) Current portion of corporate bonds 286,314 286,314 —

(5) Corporate bonds payable 145,424 147,151 (1,726)

Total liabilities 1,590,430 1,592,659 (2,228)

Derivative transactions (*2)

 1) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied (17) (17) —

 2) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied — — —

Total derivative transactions (17) (17) —

(*1) Since the fair values of embedded derivatives cannot be reasonably categorized and measured, those of the entire composite financial instruments are evaluated, and included in investment securities.
(*2) Receivables and payables incurred by derivative transactions are presented in net amount.
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Note 1:  Calculation method of fair values of financial instruments and securities and derivative transactions
Assets
(1) Cash and deposits and (2) Notes and accounts receivable−trade
Of these, items that are settled in the short term (within a year) are recorded using book values, as their fair 
values approximate book values. In addition, of notes and accounts receivable−trade, those which have more 
than a year to the payment date from March 31, 2012 are stated at the present values by discounting the 
amount of claim for each receivable with the interest rate calculated by the payment period and credit risk. 
(3) Short-term investment securities and investment securities
The fair values of stocks are determined using the quoted price on the stock exchange, and those of bonds are 
determined using the quoted price on the exchange or the quoted price obtained from the financial institu-
tions. In addition, negotiable certificates of deposit included in available-for-sale securities are recorded 
using book values, as they are settled in the short term (within a year) and their fair values approximate book 
values. For notes concerning securities by holding purpose, please see “Note 10—Investment Securities.”
Liabilities
(1) Notes and accounts payable−trade (2) Short-term loans payable and (4) Current portion of corporate bonds
Of these, items that are settled in the short term (within a year) are recorded using book values, as their 
fair values approximate book values. Of the short-term loans payable, fair values of the loans hedged by 
interest rate swap contracts meeting certain conditions are calculated by combining them with the relevant 
interest rate swap.
(3) Long-term loans payable and (5) Corporate bonds payable
These are stated with the present values calculated by discounting the aggregated values of the principal 
and interest using an assumed interest rate if loans are newly made. Of the long-term loans payable, 
fair values of the loans hedged by interest rate swap contracts meeting certain conditions are calculated 
by combining them with the relevant interest rate swap.
Derivative transactions
For notes concerning derivatives, please see “Note 11 − Derivative Transactions.”

Note 2: Financial instruments whose fair values are not readily determinable

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Item Consolidated balance sheet amount

U nlisted equity securities, 
etc. ¥2,007 ¥2,036 $24,444

I nvestment in investment 
limited partnerships, etc. 1,208 1,352 14,708

E quity securities issued by 
non-consolidated 
subsidiaries 299 2,189 3,650

E quity securities issued by 
affi liated companies 842 765 10,258

I nvestments in capital of 
affi liated companies 120 224 1,469

These items are not included in “(3) Short-term investment securities and investment securities,” because 
there is no market price, future cash flows cannot be estimated and it is very difficult to identify fair values.

Year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen

Consolidated balance 
sheet amount Fair value

Valuation gains 
(losses)

(1) Cash and deposits ¥149,006 ¥149,006 ¥  —
(2) Notes and accounts receivable−trade 56,468 56,416 (51)

(3) Short-term investment securities and investment securities

 1) Held-to-maturity debt securities 2,018 2,021 2

 2) Available-for-sale securities (*1) 77,523 77,523 —

 3) Equity securities issued by affiliated companies 493 280 (213)

Total assets 285,511 285,248 (262)

(1) Notes and accounts payable−trade 37,513 37,513 —

(2) Short-term loans payable 2,857 2,857 —

(3) Long-term loans payable 5,316 5,333 (17)

(4) Current portion of corporate bonds 11,892 11,892 —

(5) Corporate bonds payable 29,608 29,356 252

Total liabilities 87,188 86,953 234

Derivative transactions (*2)

 1) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied 3 3 —

 2) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied (0) (0) —

Total derivative transactions 2 2 —

(*1) Since the fair values of embedded derivatives cannot be reasonably categorized and measured, those of the entire composite financial instruments are evaluated, and included in investment securities.
(*2) Receivables and payables incurred by derivative transactions are presented in net amount.
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Note 3: Redemption schedule of monetary assets and securities with contractual maturities

Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Within one year One to fi ve years Five to ten years Over ten years

Cash and deposits ¥127,721 ¥  — ¥ — ¥  —

Notes and accounts receivable−trade 73,064 487 1 —

Short-term investment securities and investment securities

 Held-to-maturity debt securities (Corporate bonds) 400 705 500 —

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities(Corporate bonds)* — 2,000 — 1,000

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities(Negotiable certificates of deposit) 50,800 — — —

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities (Other)* 15,306 — 200 1,800

Total 267,293 3,192 701 2,800

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Within one year One to fi ve years Five to ten years Over ten years

Cash and deposits $1,555,115 $   — $  — $   —

Notes and accounts receivable−trade 889,624 5,939 20 —

Short-term investment securities and investment securities

 Held-to-maturity debt securities (Corporate bonds) 4,870 8,583 6,087 —

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities(Corporate bonds)* — 24,351 — 12,175

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities(Negotiable certificates of deposit) 618,531 — — —

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities (Other)* 186,374 — 2,435 21,916

Total 3,254,516 38,875 8,543 34,092

* With respect to bonds with an early redemption clause, their expected redemption amounts at maturity without applying the early redemption clause are listed.

Year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen

Within one year One to fi ve years Five to ten years Over ten years

Cash and deposits ¥149,006 ¥   — ¥ — ¥   —

Notes and accounts receivable−trade 55,775 693 — —

Short-term investment securities and investment securities

 Held-to-maturity debt securities (Corporate bonds) 600 805 500 100

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities(Corporate bonds)* — 2,000 — 1,000

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities(Negotiable certificates of deposit) 41,800 — — —

 Available-for-sale securities with maturities (Other)* 12 — 200 1,800

Total 247,193 3,498 700 2,900

* With respect to bonds with an early redemption clause, their expected redemption amounts at maturity without applying the early redemption clause are listed.

Note 4:  For redemption supplemental schedule of corporate bonds payable, long-term loans payable, lease obligations and other interest-bearing liabilities after March 31, 2012, refer to “Supplemental schedule of corporate 
bonds” and “Supplemental schedule of borrowings” in “Note 22 − Supplemental Information.”
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 NOTE 10  

Investment Securities
1. Held-to-maturity debt securities
Year ended March 31, 2012
(1) Securities whose market value exceeds the consolidated balance sheet amount

Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Valuation gains (losses)

a. Government / municipal bonds ¥ — ¥ — ¥—

b. Corporate bonds 607 611 4

c. Other — — —

 Total 607 611   4

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Valuation gains (losses)

a. Government / municipal bonds $  — $  — $—

b. Corporate bonds 7,392 7,450 58 

c. Other — — —

 Total 7,392 7,450  58 

(2) Securities whose market value is equal to or lower than the consolidated balance sheet amount
Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Valuation gains (losses)

a. Government / municipal bonds ¥  — ¥  — ¥—

b. Corporate bonds 1,013 1,003 (9)

c. Other — — —

 Total 1,013 1,003  (9)

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Valuation gains (losses)

a. Government / municipal bonds $   — $   — $ —

b. Corporate bonds 12,334 12,218 (116)

c. Other — — —

 Total 12,334 12,218 (116)

Year ended March 31, 2011
(1) Securities whose market value exceeds the consolidated balance sheet amount

Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Valuation gains (losses)

a. Government / municipal bonds ¥  — ¥  — ¥ —
b. Corporate bonds 606 616 10

c. Other — — —

 Total 606 616 10

(2) Securities whose market value is equal to or lower than the consolidated balance sheet amount
Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Fair value Valuation gains (losses)

a. Government / municipal bonds ¥    — ¥    — ¥ —
b. Corporate bonds 1,412 1,404 (7)

c. Other — — —

 Total 1,412 1,404  (7)
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2. Available-for-sale securities
Year ended March 31, 2012
(1) Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount exceeds the acquisition cost

Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Acquisition cost Valuation gains (losses)

a. Shares ¥41,985 ¥11,581 ¥30,403

b. Bonds — — —

c. Other — — —

 Total 41,985 11,581 30,403

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Acquisition cost Valuation gains (losses)

a. Shares $511,207 $141,019 $370,187

b. Bonds — — —

c. Other — — —

 Total 511,207 141,019 370,187

(2) Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount is equal to or lower than the acquisition cost
Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Acquisition cost Valuation gains (losses)

a. Shares ¥ 1,267 ¥ 1,628 ¥(361)

b. Bonds 5,259 5,773 (514)

c. Other 64,106 64,106 —

 Total 70,633 71,509 (875)

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Acquisition cost Valuation gains (losses)

a. Shares $ 15,435 $ 19,832 $ (4,397)

b. Bonds 64,035 70,295 (6,259) 

c. Other 780,554 780,554 —

 Total 860,025 870,682 (10,656)

Note:  “Bonds” in “Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount is equal to or lower than the acquisition cost” include composite financial instruments, and the valuation losses of ¥122 million ($1,490 thousand) are 
posted in “Other income.”

Year ended March 31, 2011
(1) Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount exceeds the acquisition cost

Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Acquisition cost Valuation gains (losses)

a. Shares ¥31,299 ¥10,965 ¥20,334
b. Bonds — — —

c. Other — — —

 Total 31,299 10,965 20,334
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(2) Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount is equal to or lower than the acquisition cost
Millions of yen

Category
Consolidated balance 

sheet amount Acquisition cost Valuation gains (losses)

a. Shares ¥ 1,226 ¥ 1,689 ¥(462)
b. Bonds 3,185 3,653 (467)

c. Other 41,812 41,812 —

 Total 46,224 47,155 (930)

Note:  “Bonds” in “Securities whose consolidated balance sheet amount is equal to or lower than the acquisition cost” include composite financial instruments, and the valuation losses of ¥346 million are posted in 
“Other expenses.”

3. Available-for-sale securities sold during the fi scal year 
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Category Amount of proceeds Total gains on sales Total losses on sales

a. Shares ¥105 ¥56 ¥(2)

b. Bonds 0 — (3)

c. Other — — —

 Total 105 56 (6)

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category Amount of proceeds Total gains on sales Total losses on sales

a. Shares $1,281 $683 $(27)

b. Bonds 0 — (48)

c. Other — — —

 Total 1,281 683 (76)

Year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen

Category Amount of proceeds Total gains on sales Total losses on sales

a. Shares ¥1,239 ¥52 ¥(165)
b. Bonds — — —

c. Other — — —

 Total 1,239 52 (165)

4. Impairment loss on securities
Year ended March 31, 2012
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company recognized impairment loss on available-for-sale-securities in an amount of ¥189 million 
($2,307 thousand).

Year ended March 31, 2011
During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company recognized impairment loss on available-for-sale-securities in an amount of ¥1,308 million.



FINANCIALS

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

100 SEGA SAMMY HOLDINGS

 NOTE 11 

Derivative Transactions
1. Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied
(1) Currency-related derivatives

Year ended March 31, 2012
Millions of yen

Category Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value
Unrealized gains 

(losses)

Transactions other than market 
transactions

Forward exchange contracts
 Selling
  UK pound ¥  320 ¥— ¥(5) ¥(5)

  U.S. dollar 117 — (6) (6)

  Euro 953 — 6 6

 Buying
  U.S. dollar 40 — 2 2

Total 1,431 — (1) (1)

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value
Unrealized gains 

(losses)

Transactions other than market 
transactions

Forward exchange contracts
 Selling
  UK pound $ 3,901 $— $(63) $(63) 

  U.S. dollar 1,428 — (73) (73)

  Euro 11,608 — 84 84

 Buying
  U.S. dollar 487 — 35 35

Total 17,424 —  (17) (17)

Note: Fair values are calculated using prices quoted by financial institutions.

Year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

Category Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value
Unrealized gains 

(losses)

Transactions other than market 
transactions

Forward exchange contracts
 Selling
  UK pound ¥  455 ¥    — ¥ (7) ¥ (7)
  U.S. dollar 354 — 23 23
  Euro 682 — (8) (8)
 Buying
  U.S. dollar 501 — (3) (3)

Total 1,994     —   3   3

Note: Fair values are calculated using prices quoted by financial institutions.
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(2) Composite fi nancial instruments

With respect to composite fi nancial instruments whose fair values cannot be categorized and measured for each embedded derivative, 
the entire composite fi nancial instruments are appraised by fair value, and are included in “2. Available-for-sale securities” in “Note 10 − 
Investment Securities.”

2. Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied
(1) Currency-related derivatives

Year ended March 31, 2012
Not applicable

Year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

Hedge accounting method Classifi cation Major hedged items Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value

Primary method Forward exchange contracts

Accounts receivable−trade
Selling
Euro ¥ 36 ¥    — ¥(0)

Receivables or payables are 
translated using forward 
exchange contract rates

Forward exchange contracts

Accounts payable−trade
Buying
U.S. dollar 131 — Note 2

Notes:  1. Fair values are calculated using prices quoted by financial institutions.
  2.  With respect to forward exchange contracts whose exchange rates are used for translating foreign currency-denominated accounts payable−trade, fair values of forward exchange contracts are included in the fair 

values of the relevant accounts payable−trade, since they are used for recording accounts payable−trade as hedged items.

(2) Interest rates

Year ended March 31, 2012
Millions of yen

Hedge accounting method Classifi cation Major hedged items Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value

Interest rate swaps meeting 
certain conditions

Interest rate swaps:
Floating rate into fixed rate Long-term loans payable ¥5,900 ¥2,619 Note

Total 5,900 2,619 —

Thousands of U.S. dollars(Note 1)

Hedge accounting method Classifi cation Major hedged items Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value

Interest rate swaps meeting 
certain conditions

Interest rate swaps:
Floating rate into fixed rate Long-term loans payable $71,837 $31,888 Note

Total 71,837 31,888 —

Note:  With respect to interest rate swap contracts which meet certain conditions, fair values of the interest rate swap contracts are included in the fair values of the relevant long-term loans payable, since they are used for 
recording long-term loans payable as hedged items.

Year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

Hedge accounting method Classifi cation Major hedged items Contract value
Contract value due 

after one year Fair value

Interest rate swaps meeting 
certain conditions

Interest rate swaps:
Floating rate into fixed rate Long-term loans payable ¥3,834 ¥3,170 Note

Total 3,834 3,170     —

Note:  With respect to interest rate swap contracts which meet certain conditions, fair values of the interest rate swap contracts are included in the fair values of the relevant long-term loans payable, since they are used for 
recording long-term loans payable as hedged items.
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 NOTE 12  

Retirement Benefi ts
Overview of retirement benefi ts plans
The Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries offer, based on the retirement benefi t regulations, employees’ pension plans and lump-sum 
retirement benefi t plans. Certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries and overseas consolidated subsidiaries offer the defi ned contribution 
pension plans. 
 The liabilities for severance and retirement benefi ts included in the liability section of the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2012 
and 2011 consists of the following:

 Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

1) Projected benefi t obligation ¥(33,448) ¥(26,927) $(407,257)

2) Pension assets 15,237 13,337 185,531 

3) Unrecognized projected benefi t obligation (18,210) (13,590) (221,726) 

4) Unrecognized actuarial differences 3,778 1,009 46,007 

5) Prepaid pension cost 95 75 1,166

6) Provision for retirement benefi ts (14,527) (12,656) (176,886)

Note: Some consolidated subsidiaries use the simplified method for calculating projected benefit obligations.

 Included in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, severance and 
retirement benefi t expenses comprise the following:

 Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Service costs – benefi ts earned during the year ¥2,205 ¥2,131 $26,848 

Interest cost on projected benefi t obligation 524 494 6,386

Expected return on plan assets (307) (275) (3,747) 

Amortization of actuarial difference 284 569 3,460

Amortization of prior service cost — (175) —

Other 257 208 3,135

Severance and retirement benefi t expenses 2,963 2,954 36,083

Notes: 1. Retirement benefit expenses of consolidated subsidiaries using the simplified method are added up in “Service costs.”
  2. “Other” is a premium paid to the defined contribution pension plan.
  3.  Sammy Corporation decided to revise its retirement benefit plan effective April 1, 2011, from the tax - qualified plan to a contract-type corporate pension plan (defined benefits plan type). Following this 

changeover, the balance of prior service cost (reduction in liabilities) of ¥ (111) million has been amortized at once and included in “Amortization of prior service cost.”

2012 2011

Discount rate 1.5–2.0% 1.5–2.0%
Rate of expected return on plan assets 1.0–2.5% 1.0–2.5%
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 NOTE 13  

Stock Option Plan
The following table summarizes the contents of stock options as of March 31, 2012. 

Company name The Company The Company The Company

Date of the annual 
shareholders’ meeting

June 30, 2010 June 30, 2010 December 24, 2010

Position and number of 
grantees

The Company’s directors: 4 The Company’s executive offi cers: 3
The Company’s employees: 11
The Company’s subsidiaries’ 
directors: 8
The Company’s subsidiaries’ 
executive offi cers: 22
The Company’s subsidiaries’ 
employees: 1,831

The Company’s subsidiaries’ 
directors: 12
The Company’s subsidiaries’ 
executive offi cers: 6
The Company’s subsidiaries’ 
employees: 151

Class and number of stock Common stock 172,000 Common stock 3,417,800 Common stock 464,000

Date of issue July 31, 2010 July 31, 2010 February 1, 2011

Condition of settlement of 
rights

Continue to work from July 31, 2010 
to July 31, 2012

Continue to work from July 31, 2010 
to July 31, 2012

Continue to work from February 1, 
2011 to February 1, 2013

Period grantees provide service 
in return for stock options

July 31, 2010 to July 31, 2012 July 31, 2010 to July 31, 2012 February 1, 2011 to February 1, 2013

Period subscription rights are 
to be exercised

August 1, 2012 to July 31, 2014 August 1, 2012 to July 31, 2014 February 2, 2013 to February 1, 2015

The following table summarizes the scale and movement of stock as of March 31, 2012

Shares

Company name The Company The Company The Company

Date of the annual shareholders’ meeting June 30, 2010 June 30, 2010 December 24, 2010

 Not exercisable stock options

  S tock options outstanding at April 1, 2011 172,000 3,379,000 460,800

  Stock options granted — — —

  Forfeitures — 39,100 67,700

  C onversion to exercisable stock options — — —

  S tock options outstanding at March 31, 2012 172,000 3,339,900 393,100

 Exercisable stock options

  S tock options outstanding at April 1, 2011 — — —

  C onversion from not exercisable stock options — — —

  Stock options exercised — — —

  Forfeitures — — —

  S tock options outstanding at March 31, 2012 — — —

The following tables summarize the price information of stock options as of March 31, 2012
Yen

Company name
The 

Company 
The 

Company 
The 

Company

D ate of the annual shareholders’ 
meeting

June 30, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

December 
24, 2010

Exercise price ¥1,312 ¥1,312 ¥1,753

A verage market price of the 
stock at the time of exercise — — —

F air value of the stock option at 
the date of grant 306 306 386

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Company name
The 

Company 
The 

Company 
The 

Company

D ate of the annual shareholders’ 
meeting

June 30, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

December 
24, 2010

Exercise price $15 $15 $21

A verage market price of the 
stock at the time of exercise — — —

F air value of the stock option at 
the date of grant 3 3 4
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 NOTE 14  

Income Taxes
(1) Signifi cant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities:

 Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Deferred tax assets:
 Allowance for doubtful accounts ¥    879 ¥  1,243 $   10,708 

  Loss on valuation of inventories 2,475 2,783 30,144

  Provision for bonuses 1,833 1,669 22,328

  Provision for retirement benefi ts 5,165 5,148 62,892

  Depreciation expense 14,343 14,443 174,641

  Loss on valuation of investment securities 951 3,518 11,588

  Impairment loss 3,039 2,604 37,009

  Others 12,010 12,679 146,233

  Tax loss carry forward 46,781 54,924 569,600

Total 87,480 99,014 1,065,147

Valuation allowance (72,428) (76,839) (881,873) 

Offset against deferred tax liabilities (8,347) (6,392) (101,640) 

Net deferred tax assets 6,704 15,783 81,632

Deferred tax liabilities:

  Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (10,966) (8,412) (133,530) 

  Others (1,725) (1,721) (21,009) 

Subtotal of deferred tax liabilities (12,692) (10,134) (154,539) 

Offset against deferred tax assets 8,347 6,392 101,640

Total (4,344) (3,742) (52,898) 

Recorded deferred tax assets 2,359 12,041   28,734

(2)  Breakdown of major causes of the signifi cant difference between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for fi nancial statement purposes, 
if any, by item, for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011.

2012 2011

Statutory tax rate 40.7% 40.7%
(Adjustment)

Effect from the adoption of Consolidated Taxation System — (21.1)

Tax deduction for experiment and research expenses (3.2) (2.0)

Changes in valuation allowance 1.0 7.0

Permanently non-deductible expenses including entertainment expenses 2.4 2.1

Amortization of goodwill 3.5 0.6

Adjustments of deferred tax assets for enacted changes in tax laws and rates 2.0 —

Other 1.3 (4.1)

Effective tax rate for fi nancial statement purposes 47.8 23.2

(3)  Adjustments of deferred tax assets and liabilities for enacted changes 
in tax laws and rates

Due to the promulgation on December 2, 2011, of The Law to Revise 
the Income Tax, etc., in Order to Construct a Tax System Addressing 
Changes in the Socio-Economic Structure (Law No. 114 of 2011), and 
The Act on Special Measures for Securing the Financial Resources 
to Implement the Restoration from the Tohoku Earthquake (Law 
No.117 of 2011), for fi scal years beginning on or after April 1, 2012, 

the corporation tax rate has been reduced and a special reconstruction 
corporation tax has been instituted.
 As a result of this tax rate change, the amount of deferred tax 
assets (net of the amount of deferred tax liabilities) increased by ¥795 
million($9,684 thousand), income taxes-deferred increased by ¥869 
million($10,585 thousand), valuation difference on available-for-sale 
securities increased by ¥1,552 million($18,898 thousand) and revalu-
ation reserve for land increased by ¥112 million($1,372 thousand).



ANNUAL REPORT 2012 105

 NOTE 15  

Asset Retirement Obligation
This disclosure is omitted due to the immateriality of the total amount of the asset retirement obligation for the year ended March 31, 2012 
and 2011.

 NOTE 16  

Investment and Rental Property
This disclosure is omitted due to the immateriality of the total amount of the investment and rental property for the year ended March 31, 
2012 and 2011.

 NOTE 17  

Segment Information
1. Outline of reporting segments
Reporting segments of the Company are the organizational units for 
which separated fi nancial information is available, and on the basis 
of which the Board of Directors makes decisions on the allocation of 
management resources and examines fi nancial performance on a 
regular basis.  

 Planning of business development and strategies as well as exe-
cution of business activities in respect of each product and service 
are carried out by each Group company that provides such product 
and service.
 As such, the Group is comprised of segments classifi ed by product 
and service provided through the business run by each company, in 
which “Pachislot and Pachinko Machines,” “Amusement Machine 
Sales,” “Amusement Center Operations” and “Consumer Business” 
are the reporting segments.

 Line of business at each reporting segment is as follows:

Segment Business

(1) Pachislot and Pachinko Machines Development, manufacture and sales of pachislot and pachinko machines and design for parlors

(2) Amusement Machine Sales Development, manufacture and sales of game machines used in amusement arcades

(3) Amusement Center Operations Development, operation, rent and maintenance of amusement centers

(4) Consumer Business D evelopment and sales of home video game software; development, manufacture and sales of toys; 
planning and production of entertainment contents for mobile phones, etc.; planning, production and 
sales of animated movies

2. Basis of measurement for net sales, income (loss), assets and other items by each reporting segment
The accounting treatment for the Group’s reporting segments is generally the same as described in “Note 2 − Summary of Signifi cant 
Accounting Policies.”
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3. Information on the amounts of net sales, income (loss), assets and other items by each reporting segment
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business Subtotal

Other 
(Note) Total

Net sales

 Sales to third parties ¥212,189 ¥49,929 ¥44,608 ¥ 85,688 ¥392,415 ¥3,087 ¥395,502

 Inter-segment sales and transfers 144 3,071 0 745 3,960 918 4,879

Total 212,334 53,000 44,608 86,433 396,376 4,006 400,382

Segment income (loss)  71,040  7,415    355 (15,182)  63,628   234  63,862

Segment assets 172,244 31,902 37,256 81,689 323,093 13,878 336,972

Other items

 Depreciation 4,249 1,620 6,184 4,079 16,134 115 16,250
 I ncrease in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 12,726 1,388 8,328 10,763 33,207 181 33,389

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business Subtotal

Other 
(Note) Total

Net sales

 Sales to third parties $2,583,585 $607,928 $543,143 $1,043,321 $4,777,978 $ 37,592 $4,815,571

 Inter-segment sales and transfers 1,762 37,392 1 9,071 48,227 11,183 59,411

Total 2,585,347 645,320 543,145 1,052,392 4,826,206 48,776 4,874,983

Segment income (loss)   864,973  90,284   4,333  (184,864)  774,727   2,851   777,579

Segment assets 2,097,219 388,438 453,629 994,640 3,933,927 168,986 4,102,914

Other items

 Depreciation 51,744 19,736 75,297 49,669 196,448 1,411 197,859
 I ncrease in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 154,953 16,908 101,410 131,057 404,330 2,209 406,539

(Note) “Other” is the business segment not included in the reporting segments, but includes information provider services, etc. Additionally, “Other” in the segment assets includes the assets of the Resort business.

Year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business Subtotal

Other 
(Note) Total

Net sales 

 Sales to third parties ¥212,060 ¥47,237 ¥45,695 ¥88,896 ¥393,889 ¥2,843 ¥396,732

 Inter-segment sales and transfers 233 3,082 25 654 3,995 979 4,975

Total 212,293 50,319 45,721 89,550 397,885 3,822 401,708

Segment income (loss)  64,284  7,317    342  1,969  73,914   (10)  73,903

Segment assets 125,565 27,374 36,019 98,535 287,495 2,252 289,748

Other items

 Depreciation 3,943 2,194 6,126 3,566 15,832 135 15,967
 I ncrease in property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 5,725 1,538 7,701 4,848 19,813 92 19,905

(Note) “Other” is the business segment not included in the reporting segments, but includes information provider services, etc.
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4.  Major differences between the total amount of all reporting segments and the amounts on the consolidated fi nancial statements  
(reconciliation of the difference)

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

Net sales 2012 2011 2012

Total net sales in the reporting segments ¥396,376 ¥397,885 $4,826,206

Segment net sales in Other 4,006 3,822 48,776

Elimination of inter-segment transactions (4,879) (4,975) (59,411)

Net sales in the consolidated fi nancial statements 395,502 396,732 4,815,571

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

Income (loss) 2012 2011 2012

Total income in the reporting segments ¥63,628 ¥73,914 $774,727

Segment income (loss) in Other 234 (10) 2,851

Elimination of inter-segment transactions (215) (126) (2,617)

General corporate expenses (Note) (5,263) (5,026) (64,086)

Operating income in the consolidated fi nancial statements 58,384 68,750 710,874

(Note) General corporate expenses mainly consist of expenses of the Group management incurred by the holding company. 

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

Assets 2012 2011 2012

Total assets in the reporting segments ¥323,093 ¥287,495 $3,933,927

Segment assets in Other 13,878 2,252 168,986

General corporate assets (Note) 166,372 169,159 2,025,715

Other adjustments (5,893) (282) (71,753)

Total assets in the consolidated fi nancial statements 497,451 458,624 6,056,877

(Note) General corporate assets mainly consist of excess funds in the Company, etc. and other assets, etc. of the Company.

Millions of yen

Other

Subtotal Other Adjustment
Amount in consolidated 

fi nancial statements

2012

Depreciation ¥16,134 ¥115 ¥   (91) ¥16,158

Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 33,207 181 2,752 36,141

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Other

Subtotal Other Adjustment
Amount in consolidated 

fi nancial statements

2012

Depreciation $196,448 $1,411 $(1,117) $196,741

Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 404,330 2,209 33,512 440,051

(Note) Adjustment includes corporate and elimination of inter-segment transactions.

Millions of yen

Other

Subtotal Other Adjustment
Amount in consolidated 

fi nancial statements

2011

Depreciation ¥15,832 ¥135 ¥ (18) ¥15,949
Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 19,813 92 (219) 19,686

(Note) Adjustment includes corporate and elimination of inter-segment transactions.
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[Related information]
Year ended March 31, 2012
1. Information by each product and service
Nothing is stated herein as similar information is disclosed in Segment Information.

2. Geographical segment information
(1) Net sales

 Millions of yen

Japan North America Europe Other Total

¥355,414 ¥13,802 ¥18,392 ¥7,892 ¥395,502

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Japan North America Europe Other Total

$4,327,466 $168,058 $223,944 $96,102 $4,815,571

(Note) Net sales are geographically classified by country or region in which customers are located.

(2) Property, plant and equipment

Nothing is stated herein as the amount of property, plant and equipment located in Japan exceeds 90% of the amount of property, plant and 
equipment in the consolidated balance sheets.

3. Information by each major customer
Nothing is stated herein as there is no outside customer representing 10% or more of the net sales in the consolidated statement of income 
and comprehensive income.

Year ended March 31, 2011
1. Information by each product and service
Nothing is stated herein as similar information is disclosed in Segment Information.

2. Geographical segment information
(1) Net sales

 Millions of yen

Japan North America Europe Other Total

¥352,444 ¥20,805 ¥17,190 ¥6,292 ¥396,732

(2) Property, plant and equipment

Nothing is stated herein as the amount of property, plant and equipment located in Japan exceeds 90% of the amount of property, plant and 
equipment in the consolidated balance sheets.

3. Information by each major customer
Nothing is stated herein as there is no outside customer representing 10% or more of the net sales in the consolidated statement of income 
and comprehensive income.
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[Information on the amount of impairment loss on noncurrent assets by each reporting segment]
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business

Other 
(Note) Total

Impairment losses ¥919 ¥319 ¥496 ¥1,605 ¥— ¥3,341

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business

Other 
(Note) Total

Impairment losses $11,196 $3,892 $6,048 $19,545 $— $40,682

(Note) “Other” is the business segment not included in the reporting segments, but includes Information provider services, etc.

Year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business

Other 
(Note) Total

Impairment losses ¥13 ¥787 ¥246 ¥381 ¥73 ¥1,502

(Note) “Other” is the business segment not included in the reporting segments, but includes Information provider services, etc.

[Information on amortization of goodwill and unamortized balance by each reporting segment]
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business

Other 
(Note) Total

Amortization ¥283 ¥31 ¥— ¥ 6,038 ¥ 9 ¥ 6,363

Balance as of March 31, 2012 778 — — 10,011 — 10,790

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business

Other 
(Note) Total

Amortization $3,449 $387 $— $ 73,526 $115 $ 77,478

Balance as of March 31, 2012 9,484 — — 121,902 — 131,386

1. “Other” is the business segment not included in the reporting segments, but includes information provider services, etc.
2. Amortization in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 includes amortization of goodwill in “Other expenses”.

Year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

Pachislot 
Pachinko

Amusement 
Machine Sales

Amusement
Center Operations

Consumer
Business

Other 
(Note) Total

Amortization ¥  288 ¥    — ¥    — ¥ 1,466 ¥120 ¥ 1,875

Balance as of March 31, 2011 1,062 — — 14,497 — 15,559

1. “Other” is the business segment not included in the reporting segments, but includes information provider services, etc.
2. Amortization in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 includes amortization of goodwill in “Other expenses”.

[Information on gain on negative goodwill by each reporting segment]
Year ended March 31, 2012

In the Pachislot and Pachinko Machines business, TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. became wholly owned subsidiary through share exchange on August 
1, 2011. Due to the transaction, the Company posted ¥836 million ($10,180 thousand) for gain on negative goodwill for the year ended March 
31, 2012.
 In the business other than four business segments stated in this section, the Company acquired all the shares of Phoenix Resort Co., Ltd. 
from RHJ International S.A. on March 26, 2012, and Phoenix Resort Co., Ltd. has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Due to 
the transaction, the Company posted ¥1,316 million ($16,027 thousand) for gain on negative goodwill for the year ended March 31, 2012.

Year ended March 31, 2011
 Not applicable
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 NOTE 18  

Related Party Transactions
Information on related party transactions for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 and the related amounts as of those dates is summarized 
as follows.

1. Material transactions of the Company with related individuals or companies
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Name of related individual or company Position and principal business Description of the Company’s transaction Transactions Account
End of period 

account balance

FSC Co., Ltd. (*1) Non-life insurance agent Payment of insurance (*2) ¥  6 Prepaid expense ¥ 3

Receipt and remittance of insurance 0 — —

Payment of outsourcing fee (*2) 10 — —

Hajime Satomi Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Offi cer

Lease of business jet (*3) 170 — —

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Name of related individual or company Position and principal business Description of the Company’s transaction Transactions Account
End of period 

account balance

FSC Co., Ltd. (*1) Non-life insurance agent Payment of insurance (*2) $78 Prepaid expense $40

Receipt and remittance of insurance 3 — —

Payment of outsourcing fee (*2) 128 — —

Hajime Satomi Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Offi cer

Lease of business jet (*3) 2,081 — —

(*): 1  Hajime Satomi, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, directly holds 53% of the shares in FSC Co., Ltd. 
 2  Transaction prices are determined in the same way as for general transactions and with reference to market prices.
 3  The Company has the payment of usage fee of a business jet to Hajime Satomi, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and the owner of the business jet. Transaction prices are based on current market price.
 4  Consumption taxes are not included in transaction amounts. 

Year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen

Name of related individual or company Position and principal business Description of the Company’s transaction Transactions Account
End of period 

account balance

FSC Co., Ltd. (*1) Non-life insurance agent Payment of insurance (*2) ¥  6 Prepaid expense ¥ 3

Receipt and remittance of insurance 2 — —

Payment of outsourcing fee (*2) 11 — —

Hajime Satomi Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Offi cer

Lease of business jet (*3) 240 — —

(*): 1  Hajime Satomi, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, directly holds 53% of the shares in FSC Co., Ltd. 
 2  Transaction prices are determined in the same way as for general transactions and with reference to market prices.
 3  The Company has the payment of usage fee of a business jet to Hajime Satomi, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and the owner of the business jet. Transaction prices are based on current market price.
 4  Consumption taxes are not included in transaction amounts. 
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2. Material transactions of the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries with related individuals or companies
Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

Name of related individual or company Position and principal business Description of the Company’s transaction Transactions Account
End of period 

account balance

FSC Co., Ltd. (*1) Non-life insurance agent Payment of insurance (*2) ¥41 Prepaid expense
Accrued expenses

¥17
0

Settle up insurance (*2) 6 — —

Payment of welfare expenses (*2) 2 — —

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Name of related individual or company Position and principal business Description of the Company’s transaction Transactions Account
End of period 

account balance

FSC Co., Ltd. (*1) Non-life insurance agent Payment of insurance (*2) $508 Prepaid expense
Accrued expenses

$211
2

Settle up insurance (*2) 78 — —

Payment of welfare expenses (*2) 24 — —

(*): 1  Hajime Satomi, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, directly holds 53% of the shares in FSC Co., Ltd. 
 2  Transaction prices are determined in the same way as for general transactions and with reference to market prices.
 3  Consumption taxes are not included in transaction amounts. 

Year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

Name of related individual or company Position and principal business Description of the Company’s transaction Transactions Account
End of period 

account balance

FSC Co., Ltd. (*1) Non-life insurance agent Payment of insurance (*2) ¥50 Prepaid expense ¥20

Settle up insurance (*2) 2 — —

Payment of welfare expenses (*2) 2 — —

(*): 1  Hajime Satomi, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, directly holds 53% of the shares in FSC Co., Ltd. 
 2  Transaction prices are determined in the same way as for general transactions and with reference to market prices.
 3  Consumption taxes are not included in transaction amounts. 
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  NOTE 19  

Business Combination
Share exchange to convert consolidated subsidiaries into wholly owned subsidiaries

1. Outline of business combination
(1) Names and business of combined companies 

Name Description of business

Acquiring company Sammy Corporation Manufacture and sales of pachinko machines, pachislot machines, ball arranging machines, 
mahjong ball machines and related equipment 

Acquired company TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. Development, manufacture and sales of pachinko machines, pachislot machines and ball arranging 
machines 

(2) Date of business combination

August 1, 2011

(3) Legal structure

Share exchange in which Sammy Corporation, a wholly owned sub-
sidiary of the Company, converted into a wholly owning parent of 
TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. while TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. converted into a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Sammy Corporation, in consideration 
for the Company’s common stock.

(4) Name of companies after the conversion

Unchanged

(5) Outline of the transactions including the purpose

On December 1, 2010, the Company converted Sammy NetWorks 
Co., Ltd., SEGA TOYS CO., LTD. and TMS ENTERTAINMENT, LTD., 
which were listed subsidiaries, into wholly owned subsidiaries and 
consolidated the Group structure achieving an effective synergy of 
our management resources within the Group. The Share Exchange 
will further reinforce the management structure of the Group and 

promote the maximization of Group earning power by converting 
TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd., the sole listed subsidiary in the SEGA 
SAMMY Group, into a wholly owned subsidiary.
 We believe that, for TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. to continue to expand 
its business through the development of more effi cient and inventive 
pachislot and pachinko machines, the company needs to deepen its 
connections with Sammy Corporation and take full advantage of 
business operations that are integrated with the SEGA SAMMY 
Group by implementing the share exchange.
 Specifi cally, we think that a robust TAIYO ELEC brand can be estab-
lished in the pachislot and pachinko machines market by improving 
TAIYO ELEC’s pachislot and pachinko machine development capability 
through measures such as personnel exchanges involving highly skilled 
pachislot and pachinko developers, leveraging the substantial intellectual 
property of the SEGA SAMMY Group and joint development involving 
integrated technologies, in addition to the exchange of personnel from 
management and sales departments that have been conducted thus far. 
Also, from a production perspective, manufacturing costs are expected 
to be reduced further as a result of sharing of components, joint pur-
chasing and other measures.

2. Summary of accounting treatment
The share exchange transactions were treated as transactions under common control provided in “Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No.21, issued on December 26, 2008) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business Combinations 
and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10, issued on December 26, 2008).

3. Matters related to the additional acquisition of shares in subsidiaries
(1) Acquisition costs

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

Consideration of the acquisition The Company’s common stock ¥7,329 $89,246
Direct costs for the acquisitions Advisory costs, etc. 26 318

Total acquisition costs 7,355 89,564
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1. Outline of business combination
(1) Name and business of acquired company

Name Description of business

Phoenix Resort Co., Ltd. Operation of resort facilities, including hotels, spas, golf courses, restaurants and international conference halls

(2) Reason for business combination

By adding Phoenix Resort Co., Ltd., the operator of the renowned 
resort facilities “Phoenix Seagaia Resort” which is comprised of hotels, 
spas, golf courses, restaurants, and international conference halls, 
to one of its Group companies, the Company obtains know-how for 
operating large-scale facilities and will utilize this knowledge in order 
to further the Group’s aim to develop and operate resort complexes 
in the future.

(3) Date of business combination

March 26, 2012

(4) Legal structure

Purchase of shares with cash

(5) Name of companies after the conversion

Unchanged

(6) Share of voting rights acquired

100%

(7) Main reason for deciding acquiring company

The Company acquiring all the shares of Phoenix Resort Co., Ltd. 
for consideration.

(2) Type of stock and share exchange ratio, calculation of the share exchange ratio and number of shares delivered

1) Type of stock and share exchange ratio

Type of stock

SEGA SAMMY 
HOLDINGS INC.
(Common stock)

TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd.
(Common stock)

Share exchange ratio 1 0.4

2) Calculation of the share exchange ratio
To establish the share exchange ratios, Sammy Corporation and TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. have deliberated in good faith concerning the results of 
the share exchange ratio analyses submitted by the independent institutions.

3) Number of shares delivered
4,423,546 shares

(3) Amount and source of gain on negative goodwill

1) Amount of gain on negative goodwill
¥836 million ($10,180 thousand)

2) The source of gain on negative goodwill
Gain on negative goodwill incurred because an acquisition cost of the common stock of TAIYO ELEC Co., Ltd. was less than the amount of 
minority interests decreased in the share exchange.

Consolidation of subsidiary through acquisition of shares 
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2. Period for which the acquired company’s fi nancial results are included in the consolidated fi nancial statements
Not applicable because the deemed acquisition date is March 31, 2012.

3. Acquisition costs

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

Consideration of the acquisition Cash ¥400 $4,870
Direct costs for the acquisitions Advisory costs, etc. 127 1,546

Total acquisition costs 527 6,417

4. Amount and source of gain on negative goodwill
(1) Amount of gain on negative goodwill

¥1,316 million ($16,027 thousand)

(2) The source of gain on negative goodwill

Gain on negative goodwill incurred because net asset value at the business combination date exceeded an acquisition cost.

5. Summary of assets and liabilities assumed at date of business combination
(1) Amount of assets

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Current assets ¥ 1,489 $ 18,129
Noncurrent assets 9,562 116,428

Total 11,051 134,558

(2) Amount of liabilities

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Current liabilities ¥7,833 $ 95,375
Noncurrent liabilities 1,373 16,728

Total 9,207 112,103

6.  Estimated impact on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2012 if the business combination 
had been completed as of the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012

This disclosure is omitted due to the immateriality of the effect.
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 NOTE 20  

Per Share Data
Per share data is as follows

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars (Note 1)

2012 2011 2012

Per share data
 Net assets per share ¥1,167.59 ¥1,093.23 $14.21

 Net income per share 86.73 163.19 1.05

 Net income per share (diluted) 86.54 163.18 1.05

Changes in accounting policies
Effective from the fi rst quarter of the year ending March 31, 2012, the “Accounting Standard for Earnings Per Share” (ASBJ Statement No. 2, 
revised on June 30, 2010) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Earnings Per Share”(ASBJ Guidance No. 4, revised on June 30, 2010) 
have been applied.
 In calculation of the amount of diluted net income per share, the method of calculating rights of stock options that are to be confi rmed after 
a certain period of time of employment has been changed; of the fair value of stock options, the amount related to future services to be provided 
to the Company is included in the amount that is assumed to be received by the Company through exercise of rights.
 In case that these revisions are not applied, diluted net income per share for the fi scal year ended March 31, 2011 is ¥163.01.

 NOTE 21  

Signifi cant Subsequent Events
Year ended March 31, 2012

Acquisition of treasury stock
Concerning acquisition of treasury stock, the Company, at a Board of Directors’ meeting held on May 31, 2012, resolved the acquisition 
method of treasury stock in accordance with the provision of Article 156 of the Companies Act as applied by replacing the relevant terms 
pursuant to Article 165, Paragraph 3 of the Companies Act.

1. Reason for acquisition
Reason for acquisition of treasury stock is to enhance capital effi ciency and prepare for strategic policies through acquisition of treasury stock.

2. Summary of acquisition
Type of stock to be acquired Common stock
Total number of stocks to be acquired 10,000,000 shares (upper limit)
 Ratio for the outstanding stock excluding treasury stock: 3.98%
Total acquisition cost ¥17,000 million ($206,988 thousand) (upper limit)
Acquisition period From June 7, 2012 through September 28, 2012
Method of acquisition Purchase in the market through entrustment
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 NOTE 22  

Supplemental Information 
Supplemental schedule of corporate bonds

Company Name of bond Issuance date

Balance as of 
April 1, 2011

(Millions of yen)

Balance as of March 
31, 2012

(Millions of yen)

Balance as of 
March 31, 2012

(Thousands of U.S. 
dollars (Note 1)) Interest rate(%) Type Date of maturity

Sammy 
Corporation

3rd unsecured 
bonds

August 27, 
2008

¥9,375 ¥5,625
(3,750)

$68,488
(45,659)

Note2 Unsecured August 27, 
2013

4th unsecured 
bonds

September 
25, 2008

8,330 4,990
(3,340)

60,757
(40,667)

Note3 Unsecured September 
25, 2013

SEGA 
CORPORATION

8th unsecured 
bonds

December 
28, 2007

10,000 10,000
(10,000)

121,758
(121,758)

1.22 Unsecured December 
28, 2012

9th unsecured 
bonds

December 
28, 2007

2,000 2,000
(2,000)

24,351
(24,351)

1.34 Unsecured December 
28, 2012

10th unsecured 
bonds

March 25, 
2008

3,000 3,000
(3,000)

36,527
(36,527)

1.30 Unsecured March 25, 
2013

11th unsecured 
bonds

September 
30, 2008

2,500 1,500
(1,000)

18,263
(12,175)

1.21 Unsecured September 
30, 2013

12th unsecured 
bonds 
Note 4

June 30, 
2009

5,050 — — Note5 Unsecured June 30, 
2012

13th unsecured 
bonds

June 30, 
2011

— 5,000 60,879 0.72 Unsecured June 30, 
2016

14th unsecured 
bonds

December 
20, 2011

— 2,600 31,657 0.66 Unsecured December 
20, 2016

SEGA TOYS, 
CO., LTD.

5th unsecured 
bonds

September 
25, 2008

312 187
(125)

2,282
(1,521)

0.99
Note 6

Unsecured September 
25, 2013

6th unsecured 
bonds

September 
30, 2008

281 168
(112)

2,054
(1,369)

1.36 Unsecured September 
30, 2013

7th unsecured 
bonds

June 30, 
2009

252 87
(87)

1,065
(1,065)

0.83 Unsecured June 29, 
2012

8th unsecured 
bonds

March 31, 
2010

400 300
(100)

3,652
(1,217)

0.47 Unsecured March 31, 
2015

Total
— — 41,501 35,458

(23,515)
431,739
(286,314) — — —

Notes: 1  The figures in parentheses of the “Balance as of March 31, 2012” represent the current portion of corporate bonds.
  2  The interest on Sammy Corporation’s third debenture is a variable rate that uses six-month Japanese yen TIBOR.
  3  The interest on Sammy Corporation’s fourth debenture is a variable rate six-month Japanese yen TIBOR added 0.10%.
  4  SEGA CORPORATION’s twelfth debenture has redeemed before maturity.
  5  The interest on SEGA CORPORATION’s twelfth debenture is a variable rate that uses six-month Japanese yen TIBOR.
  6   The interest on SEGA TOYS CO., LTD.’s fifth debenture is a variable rate that is 0.95% less than the standard interest set for each interest-bearing period. The interest rate listed above is the rate as of March 31, 2012.
  7  Total amount of scheduled redemption for each fiscal year within five years after March 31, 2012 is as follows:

Millions of yen

Due within 1 year
Due after 1 year but 

within 2 years
Due after 2 year but 

within 3 years
Due after 3 years but 

within 4 years
Due after 4 years but 

within 5 years

¥23,515 ¥4,243 ¥100 ¥    — ¥7,600

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Due within 1 year
Due after 1 year but 

within 2 years
Due after 2 year but 

within 3 years
Due after 3 years but 

within 4 years
Due after 4 years but 

within 5 years

$286,314 $51,671 $1,217 $    — $92,536
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Supplemental schedule of borrowings

Category

Balance as of 
April 1, 2011

(Millions of yen)

Balance as of March 
31, 2012

(Millions of yen)

Balance as of 
March 31, 2012

(Thousands of U.S. 
dollars (Note 1))

Average interest 
rate (%) Repayment terms

Short-term borrowings ¥ 2,000 ¥   500 $  6,087 0.8 —

Current portion of long-term borrowings due within one year 857 9,694 118,033 1.3 —

Current portion of lease obligations 321 770 9,382 Note2 —

Long-term borrowings (Excluding current portion) 5,316 25,052 305,030 1.0 2013-2016

Lease obligations (Excluding current portion) 421 1,090 13,275 Note2 2013-2018

Other interest-bearing debt

 Accounts payable-facilities 670 592 7,210 — —

 Accounts payable-facilities (Excluding current portion) 592 — — — —

Total 10,179 37,699 459,019 — —

Notes: 1  The “average interest rate” represents weighted-average interest rate over the year-end balance of loans.
  2   The average interest rate on lease obligation is not listed because lease obligation is posted in the consolidated balance sheets mainly as the amount before deduction of the amount of interest included in the total 

lease amount.
  3  The redemption schedule of long-term loans payable, lease obligation and interest-bearing debt (excluding current portion) after March 31, 2012 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

Category
Due after 1 year but 

within 2 years
Due after 2 years but 

within 3 years
Due after 3 years but 

within 4 years
Due after 4 years but 

within 5 years Due after 5 years

Long-term borrowings ¥7,035 ¥7,035 ¥7,028 ¥3,953 ¥    —

Lease obligations 612 370 89 16 1

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Category
Due after 1 year but 

within 2 years
Due after 2 years but 

within 3 years
Due after 3 years but 

within 4 years
Due after 4 years but 

within 5 years Due after 5 years

Long-term borrowings $85,660 $85,664 $85,574 $48,131 $    —

Lease obligations 7,463 4,514 1,083 196 16

Supplemental schedule of asset retirement obligations
Supplemental schedule of asset retirement obligations is omitted from this document because the amount of the asset retirement obligations 
as of April 1, 2011 and March 31, 2012 were less than 1% of total liabilities and net assets as of April 1, 2011 and March 31, 2012.



FINANCIALS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of SEGA SAMMY HOLDINGS INC.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of SEGA SAMMY HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in net assets and statements of cash fl ows for the years then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated fi nancial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in Japan, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, while the objective of the fi nancial statement audit is not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements.  
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of SEGA SAMMY HOLDINGS 
INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and their fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the years then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Convenience Translation

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements with respect to the year ended March 31, 2012 are presented 
solely for convenience. Our audit also included the translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation 
has been made on the basis described in Note1 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

July 27, 2012
Tokyo, Japan
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